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Key indicators

Quick 2000
Key indicators
for paragon Group

1 Earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation/amortization
2 Earnings before interest and taxes  
3 incl. profit-sharing rights capital and dormant participation excl. minority interest
4 incl. goodwill
5 in proportion to sales
6 due to reclassification of other tax expense
7 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting
8 adjusted for temporary workers
9 excluding temporary workers

Change

in %

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2006/2007

Sales in millions of € 108.9 110.8 80.2 64.7 40.7 38.6 - 1.8

Gross profit in millions of € 59.8 58.78 41.5 29.9 19.4 16.3 1.9

EBITDA1 in millions of € 18.7 20.2 13.9 10.3 6.2 4.8 - 7.1

EBIT2 in millions of € 6.8 8.46 6.6 5.2 2.9 1.7 - 19.3 

Net income in millions of € 2.5 2.2 2.2 2.9 1.4 1.5 11.7

Total assets in millions of € 136.1 137.8 113.0 64.5 34.4 32.2 - 1.2

Equity3 in millions of € 43.6 40.8 42.6 22.8 12.1 11.2 6.8

Equity-to-assets ratio3 in % 32.1 29.6 37.7 35.4 35.2 34.8 8.5

Liquidity in millions of € 6.4 8.8 4.8 5.4 2.5 3.8 - 26.4

Capital expenditure4 in millions of € 14.4 33.2 29.6 23.1 7.0 4.8 - 56.8

R&D expense in millions of € 10.7 11.4 6.2 2.6 2.0 1.3 - 6.1

Number of employees at year-end9 594 564 527 388 238 216 5.3

EBITDA margin5 in % 17.2 18.26 17.3 16.0 15.2 12.3 —-

EBIT margin5 in % 6.2 7.66 8.2 8.1 7.2 5.4 —-

Return on sales in % 2.3 2.0 2.8 4.4 3.4 3.8 —-

Return on equity in % 13.6 12.6 12.8 14.7 11.3 13.1 —-

Market capitalization at year-end

in millions of € 38.6 45.2 57.2 63.6 39.6 15.8 - 14.6

Earnings per share in € 0.60 0.54 0.31 0.71 0.34 0.37 11.1

Dividend (proposed) per share in € 0.107 0.30 0.20 0.10 — — - 66.7
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Letter to Shareholders

In fiscal 2007 we managed to successfully assert our position in a market environment 

that had grown increasingly challenging. In addition to the fact that our operational 

performance was once again favorable, we laid the foundation for further growth. We also

made significant steps toward our strategic objective, and this is something I consider 

especially important. Among other things, we reinforced our management structure and 

positioned ourselves higher in the supply chain hierarchy with the Artega project. 

Own products generate higher revenues

Thanks to our innovative developments, revenues from our own products increased by 

2.6% in fiscal 2007. Even though in contrast to 2006 we refrained almost entirely from 

selling goods for resale, total sales remained close to the prior-year level at € 108.9 million. 

As in previous years, the primary contributor to sales in 2007 was our Automotive division.

We generate approximately 80% of our revenues in this division, and it will continue to be

our core business in the future.

The Managing Board of paragon AG (left to right): Volker Brinkmann, Klaus Dieter Frers (chairman) and Golo Alexander Wahl.
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Our gross profit increased slightly from the prior year to € 59.8 million while our

gross profit margin rose by as much as 2.0 percentage points to 55.0%. Other 

operating expenses were above all affected by high expenditures for the biannual IAA,

one of the most important presentation opportunities for paragon. Together with the

slightly higher than average personnel expenses, these expenditures, which should be

considered an investment, led to a reduction of earnings before interest and taxes

(EBIT) to € 6.8 million.

Strategic focus on the automotive industry

The Automotive division already emerged as paragon’s most important and highest

margin business division in years past. Our products have stood the test of time in 

this extremely innovative technology market and have allowed us to carve out a solid

market share with considerable growth potential. What is important at this juncture is

to take full advantage of the excellent opportunities this market has to offer and 

continuously expand our automotive activities as our core competence.

We have already successfully established ourselves as a manufacturer of components

and modules for the automotive industry. Our current objective is to position paragon

more solidly as a system supplier. According to recent studies, suppliers will be 

generating 75% of the added value of a vehicle within two to three years. Qualified

development and systems partners will play an especially prominent role in this rising

trend toward outsourcing

Artega® GT raises our position as a supplier

The road from being a component manufacturer to a system supplier is typically very

long. To speed up the process, we initiated the Artega® GT reference project, making

paragon an exclusive supplier of interior systems. For the first time, all of the interior

systems for a mass-produced vehicle will come from paragon as a single source.

Artega Automobil GmbH & Co. KG plans to roll out its new German sports car in 

mid-2008. Our highly advanced prototype has already generated an overwhelming 

response after being presented at the 2007 International Motor Show (IAA) and at a

number of automotive manufacturers. Successor projects based on the Artega initiative

are already in the works. Our customers know that what we have developed for

small-scale manufacturers is the perfect preparation for large-scale production.

Letter to Shareholders



6

The Artega® GT and the high level of attention it is receiving prove that we are a capable

systems manufacturer as we can now demonstrate the full extent of our ingenuity and 

capabilities on the basis of a reference project.

Enhancing our Managing Board

In anticipation of our future responsibilities and continued growth, we reinforced the 

management structure in 2007 by expanding the Managing Board. I am pleased to report

that we were able to attract two industry experts to paragon as part of this process. Golo

Alexander Wahl assumed the newly created position of Director of Marketing and Sales on

October 1, 2007, and Volker Brinkmann took over as Chief Financial Officer in November.

Volker Brinkmann has many years of experience in the fields of corporate finance and 

investor relations from his previous role on the Managing Board of Balda AG, another 

company that is listed on the stock exchange. Golo Alexander Wahl is a real sales pro and

has worked in the automotive industry for nearly a decade. I am convinced that the new

board members will help accelerate growth even further.

Emerging as a systems supplier

In 2008, we will continue to systematically advance our efforts to become a systems 

supplier. We will focus even more attention on consolidating our Automotive segments 

Climate Systems, Car Media Systems and Instrumentation and Control Systems to form a 

single unit. A year ago, we already demonstrated our production efficiency in this area with

the advanced headunit integra. This system incorporates components from all three Auto-

motive segments. This results in new and better products for the human-machine interface

in automobiles. Our integrated solutions for cockpit systems offer vehicle passengers a 

level of operating comfort that they can experience directly and see with their own eyes.

During the current year we will also align our strategic decisions and actions to achieve 

an attractive return. This all depends on the expertise and commitment of our employees.

They have played a major role in the favorable development of our Company over the 

years and we are greatly indebted to them.

Please continue to put your trust in us as we work together for a successful future.

Sincerely,

Letter to Shareholders
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Twenty years ago, CEO Klaus Dieter Frers founded 

paragon as an electronics contract manufacturer. 

Management recognized the growth and margin 

potential in the automotive industry early on and 

increasingly oriented the Company in that direction. 

The automotive business has become the leading 

division in the Company, with sales totaling € 88.5

million and approximately an 80% share in sales. 

Today, paragon is an international direct supplier to 

the automotive industry with subsidiaries in Europe,

USA and Asia. Our product innovations and forward-

looking systems solutions are in demand around the

world. We are recognized as a tier-one company, and

we have been able to establish a presence in the 

automotive market. This has allowed us to clearly

strengthen awareness of the paragon brand.

During the period under review, we took various actions

to reinforce our strategic alignment. This will gradually

position paragon as a system supplier in order to better

profit from the increasing trend toward outsourcing. We 

are taking two steps to this end: first of all, we initiated

the Artega® GT reference project. Secondly, we will 

increasingly market our three Automotive segments – 

Climate Systems, Car Media Systems and Instrumenta-

tion and Control Systems – as a single consolidated unit.

Climate Systems

paragon entered the automotive market in the mid-

1990s with sensors that detect harmful substances.

Today, paragon is the world’s leading specialist in 

interior automotive air quality and is able to draw on a

Automotive
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strong technological competitive edge. We are always

developing new solutions in close cooperation with 

automotive manufacturers to monitor and actively 

improve air quality in vehicles. 

Our AQS® air quality sensor detects harmful gases such

as diesel and gasoline exhaust and prevents harmful

substances from penetrating the interior by actively

controlling the ventilation system. As a result of 

continuous innovation, the AQS® can now detect 

manure and skunk odors using an optional odor sensor

and automatically close the air vents. Since 2007, we

now have our own, mass-produced sensor elements for

the first time. This represents another leap forward in

quality and independence.

At first, only full-sized luxury vehicles were equipped

with the AQS®. It has now become a standard feature

in many mid-size vehicles, a trend that will continue 

into the compact class. This will result in new revenue

opportunities from the sale of paragon products in new

vehicle segments as well as from penetrating new 

regional markets.

The AQS® is not our only growth engine in the Climate

Systems segment. The AQC® air quality conditioner and

the AQI® air quality improver represent products in our

portfolio that could achieve similar success to the AQS®.

Alongside the brisk sales we have already achieved in

Europe, we have now sparked interest in these 

products in the USA and Asia as well, and this should

soon lead to new orders.

Our AQC® air quality conditioner eliminates germs, 

bacteria and mold spores in air conditioning systems,

especially on the evaporator. This prevents unpleasant

odors and contributes to the well-being and health of 

a vehicle’s passengers. The system will be used on a

mass-production scale for the first time in 2008.

The next step for improving air quality in vehicles is our

AQI® air quality improver. The AQI® uses small ions to

bind micro-particles, gases and odors, thereby further

reducing the level of germs inside a vehicle and 

purifying the air. As an added benefit, the negatively

charged small ions boost vitality and increase the 

safety of the passengers.

Through many years of experience and continuous 

innovation, we now have an extensive portfolio of in-

telligent components, modules and systems for vehicle

climate systems that enhance the health and safety of

passengers.

Car Media Systems

In the Car Media Systems segment, paragon offers a

wide range of solutions in the areas of hands-free 

communication, navigation, multimedia and telematics.

When designing our products, we focus on the highest

data and voice transmission quality, safe operation 

and the optimal integration of the widest variety of 

functions in mobile communications devices. Our 

portfolio is rounded off by our efforts to seamlessly 

integrate vehicle interior concepts with mobile devices

such as phones and the Apple iPod®. 

Communication in vehicles is becoming increasingly 

important. Mobile phones are evolving into “smart

phones“ – tiny all-in-one devices that users can now

even use for GPS navigation. Our individual telephone 

adapters, or cradles, enable uncomplicated use. Cradles

provide the power supply, transmit radiation out of the

interior via the antenna coupling and make it possible

to easily secure the phone within the driver’s field of

view or in the center console. Moreover, mobile phone

functions can be transmitted via Bluetooth to the 

vehicle’s larger instrumentation and control systems to

Automotive
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make it even easier and safer to use. We are always

developing new cradles as we focus on adapting to

new mobile phone and vehicle models and strive for

new innovations. 

Together with the global market leader in vehicle 

mirrors, Magna Donnelly, we developed the MirrorPilot®

Navigator, the world’s first rearview mirror navigation

system. Equipped with a speaker, this navigation mirror

replaces the existing rearview mirror without further

impairing the driver’s field of view. A navigation system

that can be integrated into the vehicle after it has left

the factory is an innovative and safe solution as 

conventional retrofitted navigation systems with 

commercial suction cup mounts are highly prone to

theft and not accident proof. This fact has already

prompted discussions to prohibit this dangerous 

mounting method. We have taken safety another step

further by designing the brightness of the display to

automatically adjust to lighting conditions. The mirror

itself is equipped with an automatic dimming feature.

The belt-mic® belt microphone is another technical

highlight of our extensive product portfolio. We have

been able to weave high-quality microphones into the

seat belt for use with mobile phones. A first of its kind,

the belt-mic® is optimally positioned near the driver’s

mouth and features previously unachievable voice 

quality compared with conventional microphones. We

will already generate our first revenues in the current

year and have been able to acquire an ideal reference

customer for this product. In the years to come, we 

anticipate a considerable amount of follow-up orders

from this and other manufacturers as the trend toward

hands-free communication in vehicles becomes more

dynamic.

Mobility is another megatrend. Portable DVD and MP3

players such as the Apple iPod are enjoying increasing

popularity. In this context, we have developed the 

Media Device Interface (MDI) in cooperation with Audi.

Among other things, MDI makes it possible to connect

MP3 players to the vehicle’s audio system while also

clearly and conveniently showing playlists from the

MP3 player on the vehicle display and allowing users

to operate the MP3 player via a multimedia interface.

Based on our order situation, we anticipate MDI sales

volumes to triple in 2008.

Instrumentation and Control Systems

Our intelligent instrumentation and control systems 

offer convenient and easy-to-use devices for vehicles.

We place high priority on the perfect interaction of 

state-of-the-art electronics with precision engineering,

maximum functionality, a stylish look and feel and 

sophisticated design. We apply these principles in 

developing reliable base technologies for many safety

and comfort systems in the automobile. Our engineers

always have one thing in mind: optimizing how 

passengers use the products.

Our instrumentation systems are based on stepper 

motors that we manufacture exclusively in Germany. 

In addition to reflecting our commitment to corporate

citizenship, these systems are a testament to our 

specialized expertise in producing precision products

that fulfill the highest standards of accuracy and quality.

Our expertise has allowed us to rise to the position of

the world’s third largest supplier of stepper motors for

display systems. We increased our market share by 

more than 20% in the past year alone.

Automotive
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Greater functionality and higher quality give our 

products a key competitive advantage. For example,

our new dual stepper motor makes it possible to 

display the speed and RPMs via one shaft. Among 

other features, the pointer color can vary to signal 

certain conditions such as when RPM limits have been

reached depending on the engine oil temperature. 

We intend to further expand our market share and

strengthen our position as a leading supplier in this

sector.

Our innovative leadership is demonstrated throughout

our entire product portfolio. For example, we have a

technological competitive edge in high-quality car

clocks. We offer intelligent switches that detect who is

operating them. In 2007, we filed a new patent for

contactless precision route sensors that revolutionize

the technology of conventional contact systems. These

new sensors not only reduce mechanical components,

but also avoid indirect and therefore error-prone 

measurements. Our contactless precision sensors are 

also virtually unaffected by outside interferences.

We made significant improvements to our shift-by-wire

technology. Our new sensor is the first with three-

dimensional detection capability and above all is freely

programmable. This provides automobile manufacturers

with a cost advantage because they need only to 

reprogram the sensors rather than purchase a new 

product (e.g. when models are updated).

Our goal is not only to recognize trends early, but to

set them. Our high development standards and 

technological leadership in all three automotive 

segments put us in an excellent position to continue 

to gain market share, even for products that are mass

produced by low-cost manufacturers.

Reference project Artega® GT

Regardless whether paragon products are visible or not,

they play an important role in the well-being of vehicle

passengers. Our systems can now be experienced in a

whole new scope. We initiated a unique reference 

project for the Artega® GT, the new small series 

German sports car. The Artega® GT is equipped with

many integrated paragon components and modules,

Automotive



11

but most importantly it also includes complete paragon

systems. For the first time, a single supplier – paragon –

will supply all the cockpit systems in a mass-produced

vehicle. This vehicle, which rolls off the assembly line

in mid 2008, unites paragon’s three automotive 

segments in a single product. Artega GmbH & Co. KG

equipped the new sports car with all of the latest 

paragon innovations, including our successful AQS® air

quality sensor and paragon’s shift-by-wire technology,

multifunctional steering wheel, reverse camera system,

innovative navigation mirror, Integra head unit system

solution with sensor switches and digital/analog 

instrument panel. The Artega® GT will generate a great

deal of interest in paragon, and this will allow us to

more rapidly move up in the supply chain and position

ourselves as a system supplier. The first signs of 

success in this effort are already apparent.

Automotive
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Research and Development (R&D) at paragon is the

central pillar in our successful corporate strategy. The

expertise we have gained and our extensive know-how

are reflected in our many innovations and our strong

market position. We are the world’s number one 

supplier of solutions for automotive air quality. We have

been recognized as a tier-one supplier among auto-

motive manufacturers, and we also have a significant

competitive edge in Car Media Systems.

Research and Development will remain an important

component of our strategic focus. Our sites in Delbrück

and Cadolzburg have state-of-the-art research and lab

facilities that provide optimal conditions to continuously

develop new products and further expand our position

as an innovation leader. All of our development teams

have one central objective: How can we make driving

cars safer and more pleasant? The AQI® system to 

actively improve air quality, the belt-mic® belt micro-

phone to optimize voice quality in the vehicle and 

the MirrorPilot® rearview mirror navigation system to

improve driving safety represent only a few examples

of our development competence and ingenuity.

Protecting the environment and conserving resources

are two objectives that our engineers pursue at all 

times during the development process. For example,

we filed a new patent in 2007 for an application with

high-precision sensors that enables the direct and 

precise detection of routing and positional changes. Our

solutions are more precise, lighter and more economical

than those of our competitors.

But this is only one of the many patents and patent

applications that protect our innovations and ensure 

our continued competitive advantage. A total of 258

national and international patents are currently regis-

tered to paragon.

Both the number of employees working in R&D and the

high level of investments in this area demonstrate its

significance for the Company. During the period under

review, 91 employees were engaged in R&D through-

out the Group, representing 15.3% of our entire work-

force. In 2007, expenditures for research and develop-

ment were nearly at the same level as in the prior year

at € 10.7 million (2006: € 11.4 million). In proportion

to Group sales, the R&D ratio was 9.8%.

Innovation highlights in 2007

In line with our strategic focus, paragon concentrated 

its research & development activities on the Automotive

division in the reporting year. The Company’s strategy 

to become a solution-driven system supplier is reflected

in many of our products.

Headunit integra 

In 2007, we completed the development of the new

headunit integra system. The new solution makes it 

possible to easily connect external devices in addition 

to controlling on-board functions such as the air 

conditioning or navigation systems. Moreover, mobile

players such as the Apple iPod® can be connected to 

the vehicle entertainment system and operated via the

headunit’s multimedia interface. This product integrates 

components from all three segments of the Automotive 

division and effectively demonstrates how paragon 

can successfully combine various competences in a 

single system.

Research & Development
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Digital/analog instrument

Our new instrument serves as an impressive example 

of perfectly combined analog and digital technology in 

instrumentation. This trendsetting information system 

consists of a high-resolution, 10.2-inch color display and a

digitally controlled dual pointer analog instrument with a

high-quality metal dial. The display of both speed and en-

gine RPMs via only one shaft with concentrically arranged

pointers represents a global innovation. As another high-

light, the pointer color can be independently configured

to signal certain conditions such as when RPM limits have

been reached depending on the engine oil temperature.

On-board clocks

A new generation of high-quality on-board clocks will be

ready for the market in 2008 and will be integrated into a

variety of full-size and luxury vehicles. A few years ago,

on-board clocks consisted of nothing more than a dial 

with pointers and a decorative ring. In contrast, high-

quality on-board clocks from paragon are highly intelligent

instruments. For example, when the vehicle enters a new 

time zone the clock automatically adjusts itself to time 

signals transmitted by GPS satellites. 

MirrorPilot® Navigator 

In 2008, we will continue to enhance our rearview mirror

navigation system and equip it with additional functions.

This system is the first of its kind worldwide. Already equip-

ped with a speaker, our navigation mirror will enable hands-

free communication via mobile phone in the future using an

integrated state-of-the-art microphone and a Bluetooth®

interface. Video applications are also in development. 

AQI®

Our AQI® air quality improver has already been well 

received on the market. AQI® technology currently uses

small ions to bind micro-particles, gases and odors, 

thereby further reducing the level of germs inside the 

vehicle. We are currently researching AQI®’s ability to 

provide filtration support.

Research & Development
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Dear Shareholders,

In fiscal 2007, paragon AG succeeded in asserting its

position and advancing its strategic development 

despite the increasingly difficult market environment.

In the reporting period, the Managing Board informed

the Supervisory Board of the situation of the Company

and the entire paragon Group on the basis of detailed

written and oral reports. In addition to information on

financial, investment, and human resources planning,

the reports also covered important performance indi-

cators such as sales, new orders, and net income for

the period. 

Resolutions were adopted for transactions requiring the

approval of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 

Board performed its duties in compliance with legal

and statutory provisions and the Corporate Governance

Code. We continually supervised and advised the 

Managing Board. In this context, the Supervisory Board

consistently fulfilled its reporting obligations without

any restrictions. Cooperation between the Managing

Board and Supervisory Board has been positive and 

trusting at all times.

Activities of the Supervisory Board

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board convened

four regular meetings. At each meeting, all members

were present and the emphasis of discussions was on

the economic performance of the Company, its overall

situation, and significant strategic developments. In 

addition, the Supervisory Board regularly reviewed the

monthly and quarterly figures. The Supervisory Board

also conducted five telephone conferences, and two 

resolutions were adopted by written consent in lieu of

a meeting. The chairmen of the Supervisory Board and

Managing Board maintained close contact outside of

meetings as well in order to discuss important business

events and significant developments as they arose and

consult each other with regard to decisions of funda-

mental importance. One of the key aspects of the 

Supervisory Board’s activities was to confer with the 

Managing Board on the prospective strategic alignment.

This included the deliberations regarding the sale of the

Electronic Solutions division. Another central topic was

the composition of the Managing Board. Following the

resignation of Hans-Jürgen John, Volker Brinkmann was

appointed as the new CFO. In addition, the Managing 

Board was expanded with new member Golo Alexander

Wahl as Chief Marketing and Sales Officer. The Super-

visory Board also addressed at length the irregularities

related to a subsidiary’s sales of merchandise (goods

for resale) in 2006. The Managing Board had informed

the Supervisory Board of the incident as soon as it had

been discovered. The measures initiated to avoid finan-

cial damages were coordinated with the Supervisory

Board. These measures included refraining from mer-

chandise sales in 2007 and hence forfeiting a portion

of projected sales. In December the Supervisory Board

reviewed the plans and targets for fiscal 2008 together

with the Managing Board.

Annual financial statements and consolidated

financial statements 2007

The consolidated financial statements were prepared 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS). The auditor examined the annual 

financial statements, consolidated financial statements,

management report, and consolidated management 

report in detail with reference to the accounts and the

Report of the Supervisory Board
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early risk recognition system and issued an unqualified 

audit opinion. In accordance with the resolution adopted 

by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on

May 22, 2007, the Supervisory Board appointed Rödl &

Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft as 

auditor, and the auditor confirmed its independence in

writing in advance pursuant to 7.2.1 of the German

Corporate Governance Code. All of the financial state-

ments and management reports of the auditor were

presented to the members of the Supervisory Board in

advance of the Supervisory Board meeting on March

31, 2008 and discussed in detail with the auditor at

this meeting. Based on extensive information provided

by the auditor, and in the auditor’s presence, the Super-

visory Board approved of the results of the audit after

conducting its own review of the annual financial state-

ments, consolidated financial statements, management

reports, and audit reports, and adopted the annual 

financial statements and consolidated financial state-

ments prepared by the Managing Board. Accordingly,

the financial statements of paragon AG have been 

confirmed. The Supervisory Board concurs with the 

proposal of the Managing Board to distribute a dividend

of € 0.10 per share for the year 2007.

Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board welcomes the recommendations 

and continuous refinement of the Corporate Governance

Code by the Government Commission. Please refer to

pages 18 to 20 of this annual report for the complete 

report and detailed information on corporate gover-

nance.

In analogous application of § 312 of the German Stock

Corporate Act (AktG), the auditor issued an unqualified

audit opinion for the voluntary report submitted by the

Managing Board of paragon AG concerning the relation-

ship between paragon AG and Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers

and persons and companies close to him. According to

this report, the payments made by the Company were

not unduly high and any disadvantages were compen-

sated. In addition, the auditor confirmed the accuracy

of the information contained in the report and the 

assessment of the Managing Board. After the report of

the Managing Board and the audit report of the auditor

were duly submitted to the Supervisory Board, we 

examined the report of the Managing Board in depth 

and had no reservations concerning the final declaration

of the Managing Board and the assessment of the auditor. 

In accordance with § 314 AktG, the auditor was also

present at this meeting and explained the results of

the audit in detail.

Despite the increasingly difficult market environment in

2007, paragon AG was able to successfully assert its

position and made important progress in the pursuit of

its strategic objectives. This would not have been 

possible without the dedicated commitment and 

outstanding contributions of all employees and the 

Managing Board. The Supervisory Board of paragon AG

would like to express its thanks and wishes the best of

success to all stakeholders for the challenges that lie

ahead in 2008.

Delbrück, March 2008

Prof. Dr. Ing. Walter Kunerth

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory Board
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General market environment

It was a very volatile year on the German stock 

market. The first half of the year was very successful as

a result of the continued positive trend and prospects

in the German economy. The DAX, Germany’s index of

30 top stocks, set a new record. The second half of the

year was marked by a significant correction, which 

began in connection with the crisis in the US subprime

market as more and more borrowers with poor credit

were no longer able to make their mortgage pay-

ments. However, the DAX managed to recover from 

this setback by the end of the year.

The SDAX, which tracks small and medium companies,

mirrored the fluctuations of the DAX in the first half of

the year, hitting its highest point of 6,683 points in July.

It then fell to its lowest level of 4,939 points in 

November as a result of the subprime crisis. The SDAX

was unable to fully recover, closing the year at 5,191

points and therefore a 7.8% decline for the year. This

was due to the fact that market uncertainty primarily 

affected small- and mid-cap stocks and investors shifted

some accounts to larger securities.

Share performance

The performance of paragon shares did not correspond

to the favorable business trend in the course of the 

fiscal year, but instead echoed the general market 

situation for small- and mid-caps. The share price was

€ 11.09 per share at the beginning of the year and

reached its highest point of € 13.95 on July 17, 2007,

only to fall again to € 9.39 by the end of the year as 

a result of the volatile market environment. This 

Investor Relations



represents an overall decline of 15.3% for the year. The

shareholder structure remained unchanged. Our free

float is still high at 48%.

Financial market communications

The Managing Board of paragon AG actively cultivates

close relationships with the financial community. The

goal of investor relations is to have an open and conti-

nuous exchange of information with investors, analysts

and journalists as well as the general interested public.

In addition to publishing comprehensive quarterly 

reports, paragon provides up-to-date corporate infor-

mation and discusses Company affairs in great detail

with stockholders at the Annual General Meeting. At

the 2007 Annual General Meeting, CEO Klaus Dieter

Frers summarized the past fiscal year to the share-

holders and outlined the Company’s future strategy. The

shareholders expressed satisfaction with the Company’s

development to date and voted 99% in favor of all

points of the agenda. The highlight of the meeting 

included a presentation of the new Artega® GT project.

Shareholders were quite impressed with the innovative

interior systems in the Artega® GT.

In the reporting year, paragon also attended many 

investor and analyst conferences. After a presentation

at the DVFA Small Cap Conference and the German

Equity Forum, the year culminated with a visit by 

investors to the IAA.

Outlook for 2008

The Managing Board will continue to maintain close 

relations with the financial community in 2008. Given

the planned investor relations activities and a some-

what friendlier equity market environment for small-

and mid-caps, the Managing Board is convinced that

the paragon’s sustained growth potential and our long-

term, positive track record will cause our stock to 

rebound again in the medium term.

2008 financial calendar

04/01/08 Annual Press Conference (Delbrück, GER)

04/02/08 DVFA Analysts’ Conference (Frankfurt, GER)

05/06/08 Publication of First Quarter Statements

05/14/08 Annual Meeting (City Hall, Delbrück, GER)

08/05/08 Publication of Second Quarter Statements

11/04/08 Publication of Third Quarter Statements

Security ID number: 555 869

ISIN: DE 000 555 869 6

Ticker symbol: PGN

Level of transparency: Prime Standard

Indices: • Prime All Share

• Technology All Share

• GEX

• CDAX

Stock capital: € 4,114,788 

Amount of shares: 4,114,788 

Designated sponsors: • Close Brothers Seydler AG

• Lang & Schwarz 

Wertpapierhandel AG

• Landesbank Baden-

Württemberg

Shareholder structure 52% Klaus Dieter Frers

(current): (Chairman of the Board)

48% Free Float

Investor Relations
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The Managing Board and Supervisory Board of paragon

AG welcome the suggestions and recommendations of

the German Corporate Governance Code. The Code pro-

motes transparency and thereby strengthens the trust

of international and national investors, customers and

employees as well as the general financial community.

The Company conforms to the principles of the German

Corporate Governance Code to the greatest extent pos-

sible. However, there are some exceptions due to the 

individual circumstances of the Company with respect to

its size, structure and economic situation. The Managing

Board and the Supervisory Board issued a joint 

Declaration of Compliance on December 6, 2007 and

made it permanently available to stockholders on the

Company’s website under “Investor Relations.“ The 

Declaration of Compliance is also reproduced at the end

of the Corporate Governance Report on page 20. 

Shareholders and Annual General Meeting

In advance of the Annual General Meeting on May 22,

2007, shareholders were once again able to review and

download all relevant documents, such as the meeting

agenda, from the Company website (www.paragon-

online.de). If countermotions had been received prior

to the Annual General Meeting, the Company would

have published them on the website as well. More

than 200 shareholders, journalists and guests were in

attendance, representing 56.99% of the share capital.

Each of the nine points on the agenda was approved

with more than 99% of the vote. Shareholders were

quite impressed with the innovative interior systems in

the Artega® GT that were presented as a special high-

light of the meeting. Following the Annual General

Meeting, all speeches made by the Managing Board as

Corporate Governance Report
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well as the presentation given at the Annual General

Meeting were made available to all shareholders and 

other interested parties on the Internet.

Cooperation between the Managing Board 

and Supervisory Board

The cooperation between the Managing Board and the

Supervisory Board is distinguished by an open and 

honest relationship. The Managing Board reports to the

Supervisory Board regularly and in a timely manner on

all subjects related to planning, business development,

risks, risk management and compliance. The Managing

Board was present at all Supervisory Board meetings.

The Supervisory Board may, however, meet without 

the Managing Board if necessary. For additional details

regarding the relationship between the two boards, 

please refer to the Report of the Supervisory Board on

pages 14/15. 

Managing Board

The Managing Board of paragon AG consists of three

members. The Managing Board’s rules of procedure 

remained unchanged in 2007. The Managing Board 

voluntarily prepares an audited report on the relationship

between paragon AG and Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers and 

closely connected persons and companies in accordance

with Section 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act

(AktG). The report received an unqualified audit opinion.

Compensation received by the Managing Board in accor-

dance with the provisions of the German Corporate 

Governance Code includes components that are based 

on performance and components that are independent

of performance. The Supervisory Board regularly reviews

both the fixed and the variable components of remune-

ration to determine if they are in line with market 

standards.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of paragon AG still consists of

three members. The Supervisory Board continuously

monitors the Managing Board and provides consultation

when necessary. Approval by the Supervisory Board is

required for important decisions of the Managing Board

that go beyond routine dialogue. Members of the 

Supervisory Board may not make decisions based on

self-interest. The independent nature of the Supervisory

Board is essential in its role as supervisor and consul-

tant to the Managing Board. The Supervisory Board 

reports all conflicts of interest at the Annual General

Meeting. There were no conflicts of interest in the 

period under review. No remuneration was paid for

personal services. The Supervisory Board conducts a

self-assessment once a year to review its efficiency.

Transparency

Open and timely communication with our shareholders,

analysts, the financial press and the general interested

public is a central component of our corporate culture.

We routinely provide comprehensive annual and 

quarterly reports on our business development and the

Company’s position. Ad hoc reports and press releases

are also used to provide timely communication. In the

year under review, for example, we published six press

releases and five ad-hoc reports. A financial calendar

with all relevant events is published at the beginning

of the year and is continuously updated. We make all

information available for review and download on our

website.

Corporate Governance Report
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Directors’ Holdings

As of December 31, 2007, members of the Managing

Board held 51.32% of the shares of paragon AG and

members of the Supervisory Board held 0.15%.

Accounting

The 2007 Annual General Meeting followed the 

recommendation of the Supervisory Board to appoint

the auditing firm Rödl & Partner GmbH, Wirtschafts-

prüfungsgesellschaft, based in Nuremberg, Germany, 

as our external auditor. The Supervisory Board sub-

sequently awarded the auditing contract. paragon AG 

prepares its accounts according to International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS). Publication occurs within

the statutory periods. paragon AG aims to routinely 

report before the deadlines in order to provide infor-

mation as early as possible. 

2007 Declaration of the Managing Board and

the Supervisory Board of paragon AG on the

German Corporate Governance Code

In accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock

Corporation Act (AktG), the Managing Board and 

Supervisory Board of paragon AG issue the following

Declaration of Compliance with the recommendations

of the Government Commission of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code: The Managing Board and 

Supervisory Board of paragon AG welcome the recom-

mendations and rules of the German Corporate Gover-

nance Code. They commit themselves to transparent,

responsible corporate management and control that is

oriented to creating value. paragon AG has conformed

and conforms to the recommendations of the German

Corporate Governance Code in the version dated June

14, 2007 with the following exceptions:

• A deductible in accordance with No. 3.8 of the Code

has not been included in the Directors & Officers 

insurance policy that the Company took out for the

Managing and Supervisory Boards.

• The Supervisory Board has not set a cap for extra-

ordinary unforeseen developments in accordance with

No. 4.2.3 of the Code. 

• According to the resolution of the Annual General

Meeting in 2006, information on the remuneration of

the members of the Managing Board is not shown 

individually in accordance with No. 4.2.4 of the Code. 

• No remuneration report is prepared as a part of the

Corporate Governance report in accordance with Nos.

4.2.5 and 7.1.3 of the Code. 

• The Supervisory Board did not form any committees

in accordance with Nos. 5.3.1 and 5.3.3 of the Code.

• An age limit has not been set for Supervisory Board

and Managing Board members in accordance with

Nos. 5.1.2 and 5.4.1 of the Code.

• Information regarding remuneration of members of

the Supervisory Board is not itemized in the financial

statements as required by No. 5.4.7 of the Code. 

• paragon AG meets its obligation to publish the 

purchase and sale of Company shares and options by

members of the Managing and Supervisory Boards.

However, separate entries on such directors’ dealings

are not made in the Corporate Governance report in

the consolidated financial statements as required by

No. 6.6 of the Code.

Delbrück, December 6, 2007

paragon AG

The Managing Board The Supervisory Board

Corporate Governance Report
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Declaration pursuant to § 297(2)(4) 

of the German Commercial Code (HGB)  

To the best of our knowledge we affirm that in 

accordance with applicable accounting principles the

consolidated financial statements give a true and fair

view of the net assets, financial position, and results 

of operations of the Group, that the consolidated 

management report gives a true and fair view of the

business trend including the net operating profit and

position of the Group, and, finally, that the most 

important risks and opportunities relating to the 

anticipated performance of the Group have been 

described.

Delbrück, March 31, 2008 

Frers Brinkmann Wahl

Member of Member of Member of

Managing Managing Managing

Board Board Board

Affirmation by the Managing Board
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In fiscal year 2007, paragon successfully asserted itself

in a more difficult market environment. The Group 

made significant progress toward achieving its strategic

goal of positioning itself as an innovative system 

supplier for the automotive industry. The first successes

of the Artega® project clearly resulted in a higher 

positioning in the market. The strengthening of the 

management structure in 2007 was another step 

toward preparing the Group for the future. 

Group structure

Together with its subsidiaries, paragon AG is a group

that operates internationally. In recent years, the 

Automotive business segment has developed into the

Group’s core business area with an approximately 80%

share in sales. In addition to the German sites of 

Delbrück, Suhl, Cadolzburg, St. Georgen and Heiden-

heim, the Group has a production facility and a sales

company in the United States. Sales subsidiaries or

sales companies in France and Japan and, since 

February 2008 also in Italy, round out the structure. 

As the parent company, paragon AG is involved in 

operations and is responsible for the control of the 

subsidiaries or business segments through higher level

divisions such as Corporate Strategy and Production 

and Sales Coordination. The subsidiaries have autonomy

in expanding the existing market shares and develo-

ping further innovations. The Group benefits from 

synergy effects through interdepartmental project

groups that supply new ideas, develop solutions and

set trends. 

Management Report
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of Japan Inc.

Electronic Solutions

paragon firstronic
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Management systems

The paragon Group has a comprehensive planning and

control system which reviews compliance with the 

annual planning targets through a timely and precise

controlling system. The focus is on the traditional 

financial and profitability indicators such as cash flow,

expense ratios, EBIT margin and contribution margin.

paragon’s international business activities make it very

important to identify risks early and counteract them, 

if necessary. The Company has long established a risk

management system for this purpose. The risk reports

prepared regularly by all divisions keep the Managing

Board informed of the probability of occurrence as well

as the possible extent of the damage of risks and offer

proposals for appropriate countermeasures. Significant

risks are also reported to management on an informal

basis, so that the Managing Board can act speedily

whenever necessary. When appropriate, possible risks

can be effectively ameliorated and potential oppor-

tunities in particular can be identified early and taken 

advantage of.

The Company’s risk reporting follows the monthly 

reporting on the business performance of paragon AG

and its subsidiaries. In these sessions, the Managing

Board and the Supervisory Board discuss actual vs.

budgeted figures as well as possible variances and 

develop adequate solutions. In addition, top manage-

ment of the paragon Group meets on a regular basis 

to discuss the course of business, the outlook for the

Group, and other business events of particular note.

Economic conditions

Global economic development was again very positive 

in 2007. According to preliminary figures, the fourth 

consecutive year of the global economic upturn ended

with an above-average gain of 5.1% (2006: 5.4%). 

Nonetheless, the Kiel Institute for the World Economy

(IfW) saw an increasingly gloomy economic outlook as

the year went on. 

The eurozone’s economic output also grew robustly at 

2.6% in the year under review, although the ifo Institute

for Economic Research reported a slight softening of

growth by 0.3 percentage points compared to 2006. 

The key stimulus for the positive development within 

the EU was the increase in private consumption. In 

particular, job creation and a constant decline in the

unemployment rate made the sustained upturn 

possible. 

The German economy continued to be robust in 2007,

although the momentum for growth softened some-

what. While gross domestic product still grew by 

approximately 3.4% in the first quarter, growth in the

fourth quarter was down to approximately 1.6%. 

According to information from the Federal Statistics 

Office, the price-adjusted gross domestic product rose

overall by 2.5%, thus falling short of the 2.9% growth

in 2006 by 0.4 percentage points. In particular, the 

increased export surplus (current account surplus) 

and the dynamic investing activity of companies in 

Germany led to the sustained economic upturn. On 

the other hand, private consumer spending declined 

in 2007 and in contrast to the eurozone, did not 

contribute to the economic growth. The primary 

causes for the consumer restraint were the significantly

increased price level due to the increase in the value

added tax and energy prices. The consumer price 

index rose in Germany by 2.3%, the highest annual 

inflation rate since 1994.
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Automotive industry

The slight growth in demand for passenger cars and

commercial vehicles worldwide was primarily due to 

the very positive market trend in the emerging 

countries China, India, Russia and Brazil where growth

rates were in the double digits. Both the Japanese mar-

ket for passenger cars and the North American market

for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles 

may have fallen short of the 2006 level. According to

data from the German Association of the Automotive 

Industry (VDA), 16 million passenger cars were 

registered in Europe, roughly 1.0% more than in 2006.

While sales of passenger cars in Western Europe were

unchanged from 2006 at 14.8 million, the new EU 

countries saw growth of 15.0% to 1.2 million passenger

cars, although the starting basis was significantly lower.

The demand for new cars was supported by vigorous

consumption and investment activity combined with 

increased purchasing power.

In contrast, development in the German domestic 

market was restrained. While sales declined by 9%

from 2006 to 3.15 million passenger cars, the German

manufacturers increased their market share slightly to

approximately 70.0%. Exports increased by 11.0% to

4.3 million passenger cars in 2007. 

Sales Growth
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Business development in the paragon Group

Sales

In a market environment characterized by increased

pricing pressure on the part of OEMs and intensified

competition, paragon further improved the sales of

its own automotive products by 6.7% compared to

the record year 2006. Sales of the Company’s own

products overall grew by 2.6% compared to 2006.

Even taking into account the sales of trading goods

in 2006, sales in 2007 were nearly unchanged due to

the fact that the Group sold almost no trading goods

at all in the year under review. Automotive’s percen-

tage of total sales continues to be approximately

80%, again making it the most important business

segment by far in 2007. Products from the Car Media

division increased at a slightly higher rate than those

from Climate Systems and Instrumentation and 

Control Systems. In contrast, sales in the Electronic

Solutions segment decreased by 11.8% to € 20.4

million (2006: € 23.1 million). While this division

grew in Europe, sales in the U.S. declined signifi-

cantly. Phase-outs of major projects, whose follow-

up orders were not started immediately, and the 

elimination of minor projects from the sales portfolio

contributed to the decline. The change in the dollar

exchange rate further intensified this trend. Overall,

paragon generated sales of € 108.9 million (2006:

€ 110.8 million). Of that amount, € 7.5 million was

realized at the U.S. site (2006: € 11.2 million) and

paragon increased its sales in Europe from € 99.7

million to € 101.4 million.  

Income and expens

In 2007, paragon did not quite reach the level of 

record operating earnings achieved in the previous

year. In contrast, net income clearly surpassed the

2006 figure due to tax effects.

As paragon did not continue to build up inventories,

the income statement – in contrast to 2006 – did not

report any income from changes of inventory. This

factor, and the cancellation of the trading goods 

business led to a decline of total operating revenue 

to € 120.5 million (2006: € 124.7 million). Cost of

materials declined by 8.0% from € 66.0 million to 

€ 60.6 million primarily due to the elimination of 

trading goods. In contrast to the 2006 Annual Report,

the previous year’s figure has been adjusted by the

expenses for contract labor, which are now assigned

to personnel costs (please refer to the explanatory

notes on employees). At € 59.8 million, gross income

was higher than in 2006 (€ 58.7 million). The gross 

margin at 55.0% was also higher than the 2006 figure

of 53.0%. The new allocation of contract labor also

increased paragon’s personnel costs by 3.9% to 

€ 27.6 million (2006: € 26.6 million). This rate of 

increase, which was slightly higher than that of sales,

raised the ratio of personnel expenses to sales to

25.4% compared to 24.0% in 2006. This led to a 

reduction in earnings before interest, taxes, depre-

ciation and amortization (EBITDA) to € 18.7 million

(2006: € 20.2 million).

At € 11.9 million, depreciation and amortization 

resulting primarily from the development work on

new products but also from investments in property,

plant and equipment was nearly unchanged from the

2006 level of € 11.7 million. The 12.5% increase in

other operating expenses reduced earnings before 

interest and taxes (EBIT) to € 6.8 million (2006: 

€ 8.4 million). In addition to significantly higher

energy costs and sharply increased legal and con-

sultancy fees, the high expenses for the biannual 

International Automobile Exhibition (IAA) in Frankfurt

reduced EBIT. The automobile exhibition is one of 

paragon’s most significant possibilities for presenta-

tion. The exhibition costs thus have the nature of an

investment and pay for themselves through higher

follow-up orders in subsequent years. 
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EBIT and EBITDA Growth
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For the purpose of reducing interest expenses in the 

future, paragon repurchased high-interest profit-sharing

rights in fiscal 2007 and replaced them with 

instruments having a lower interest rate. Non-recurring

expenses in the amount of approximately € 0.9 million

were incurred in the year under review for this debt

conversion. The net financial loss came to € 6.5 million

(2006: net financial loss of € 4.7 million). This dis-

proportionate burden caused earnings before taxes to

decline to € 0.3 million. The conversion of the deferred

taxes to the reduced tax rate of approximately 29%

and additional tax effects resulted in tax proceeds of 

€ 2.2 million in the year under review. The Group’s 

net income grew by 11.7% to € 2.5 million (2006: 

€ 2.2 million). Earnings per share (EPS) for fiscal 2007

increased by 11.4% to € 0.60, with 4.115 million 

(as of December 31, 2007) shares outstanding (2006:

€ 0.54, with 4.113 million shares outstanding). 

Taking account of the variance between the separate 

financial statements of the parent company and the

consolidated financial statements as well as the 

influencing factors on earnings growth in the Group,

the Managing and Supervisory Boards of paragon AG

intend to recommend a dividend payment of € 0.10

per share (2006: € 0.30) to the Annual General 

Meeting. 

Automotive segment

With its three divisions, Car Media Systems, Climate 

Systems and Instrumentation and Control Systems, the

Automotive business segment has established itself as

Management Report



27

the paragon Group’s most important segment. A large

number of innovations have enabled paragon to 

achieve a top position in the automotive industry and

achieve tier 1 status. In air quality sensors, the Com-

pany is clearly the market leader. However, not only 

in Climate Systems does paragon have a solid market

position. Many technological developments and en-

hancements have enabled the Company to gain a solid

market share with considerable growth potential in 

the Car Media and Instrumentation and Control Systems

divisions as well. paragon benefits from the increasing 

shift of added value from the automobile manufacturers

to the suppliers.

In addition to the intensive research and development

activities in 2006, the Managing Board initiated the 

Artega® project in 2006, which since year-end 2006 is

being continued by Artega® Automobil GmbH & Co.KG.

This project will enable paragon to equip the Artega®

GT, a new German sports car, which is to be delivered

in low volumes starting in 2008, with a large number

of paragon products and use it to enhance visibility for

paragon without having to bear all of the business risk.

For the first time, a vehicle interior will be entirely

equipped by a supplier. In addition to the generally

higher level of attention that paragon will attract, the

Company will also be increasingly perceived as a 

system supplier. All of the products developed for the

Artega® in 2007 can also be produced on a large scale

for other manufacturers, so that the Managing Board

expects a broader customer base as well as additional

sales and higher margin potential. Roadshows with 

vehicle manufacturers have already produced initial 

orders.

In the year under review, paragon increased sales of 

its own products in the Automotive segment by 6.7%

to € 88.5 million (2006: € 83.0 million). Products 

from the Car Media division contributed to this growth

at a slightly higher rate than the other divisions. At 

approximately 80%, the division’s percentage in Group

sales remained at a very high level. The trading goods 

business was almost entirely canceled in 2007 after an

internal audit revealed evidence of irregularities at a

subsidiary in connection with a trading goods trans-

action in 2006. In order to protect the Company from

financial harm, the Managing Board canceled planned

sales in the amount of € 7.0 million to € 10.0 million

for 2007. 

The primary contributor to sales in the Car Media 

Systems division continued to be hands-free equipment

in 2007. In addition, the Media Device Interface (MDI) 

has gone into series production. The MDI can be used to

connect an MP3 player in the vehicle so it can be used

like a CD changer with the vehicle-side control and 

display units. The acceptance of the product is outstan-

ding, so that the numbers of units will more than triple

starting in 2008 and the secured order volume will 

come to more than € 25 million in the next few years.

At Climate Systems, the trend is in the direction of 

increasingly complex and higher-quality sensors that 

offer a greater margin potential for paragon. Since

2007, the air quality sensor AQS® MK IV has been 

offered in a combined version that measures harmful

substances, temperature and humidity. 

In the Instrumentation and Control Systems division,

paragon has reinforced its outstanding world market

position through the new dual stepper motor that 

makes it possible to display two parameters of 

information via a single axis. It is already used, for 

example, in the instrument cluster for the Artega® GT;

additional orders have already been received from

OEMs for this modern solution.

Due to the effects explained in the disclosures on 

income and expense, EBIT in the Automotive business

segment of € 6.2 million did not reach the record 

value of 2006 (€ 7.9 million).
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Electronic Solutions segment

In the Electronic Solutions business segment, paragon

develops and produces high-quality electronic com-

ponents and systems for a variety of industries. The

segment has a history of approximately 20 years, and

during that time it has asserted itself as one of the 

leading electronic service providers in the German 

market with customized solutions. At its sites in Suhl,

Germany and Grand Rapids, Michigan, USA, the 

business segment has employees with a high level of

expertise and very modern production facilities. Both

sites offer the entire value creation chain, from the 

initial idea to the completed system.

The customers include significant companies from 

the telecommunications, medicine and building and 

security technology industries. In the year under 

review, the generated sales of € 20.4 million (2006: 

€ 23.1 million). Growth in Europe could not com-

pensate for the decline in sales in the U.S., where in

addition to the phase-out of major projects, for which

follow-up orders were not started immediately, the 

elimination of minor projects from the sales portfolio

also had an impact. The change in the dollar exchange

rate further intensified this development. EBIT, at € 0.6

million, was kept at the level of the prior year (2006:

€ 0.6 million) in the Electronic Solutions business 

segment.

In an ad hoc announcement of May 21, 2007, paragon

reported that all strategic options including a possible

sale of the Electronic Solutions segment were under 

review. Since that time, the Managing Board has de-

liberated this issue intensively; however, no conclusive

decision has been reached. The business development

of Germany-based paragon firstronic GmbH specifically

is seen as very pleasing. The Managing Board is 

continuing to observe the market and will make a 

decision at the appropriate time – with consideration 

of the planned reduction of liabilities.

Financial position and cash flow

At € 136.1 million, total assets as of December 31,

2007 were slightly below the prior year’s level 

(December 31, 2006: € 137.8 million). In contrast, 

non-current assets rose significantly to € 95.3 million

(2006: € 90.2 million). The share of non-current assets

in total assets was 70.0% (2006: 65.4%). This increase

is primarily due to the increase in deferred tax assets

from € 0.4 million as of December 31, 2006 to € 3.9

million as of December 31, 2007. On the other hand,

current assets declined from € 47.6 million to € 40.9

million as of the balance sheet date, with the greatest

change in trade receivables. In connection with an 

asset backed securities (ABS) structure, the paragon

Group in December 2007 significantly increased its

sales of accounts receivable, thus flexibly adapting its

financing structure to the needs of current financing.

This reduced the trade receivables from € 19.9 million

to € 6.3 million. In contrast, other assets rose signifi-

cantly from € 1.6 million to € 9.6 million. In addition 

to value added tax assets, the compensatory damages

claims from the above-mentioned suspected fraud 

case contributed to this increase. Furthermore, this item

contains receivables from the cooperation agreement 

with Artega® Automobil GmbH & Co. KG. At € 6.4 

million as of December 31, 2007 (2006: € 8.8 million),

cash and cash equivalents remained at a high level.

Taking into account the profit sharing rights, share-

holders’ equity rose to € 43.6 million (2006: € 40.8

million) as of the balance sheet date. At 32.1%, the

equity-to-assets ratio was slightly higher than on 

December 31, 2006 (29.6%). As explained above,

high-interest profit sharing rights were converted to 

instruments having a lower interest rate in 2007; an 

additional repayment from this refinancing arrangement

was made on January 15, 2008.

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS, certain items

were transferred from other provisions to other current
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liabilities. This resulted in an adjustment of the 2006 

figures in the amount of € 5.0 million. As a result of

payments, other provisions, at € 1.0 million, were 

reduced to half their amount year-on-year. Other current

liabilities declined by € 4.1 million to € 6.1 million as

of the reporting date in response to payments. In 

contrast, current and non-current financial liabilities 

rose slightly to € 50.0 million (2006: € 47.1 million).

There were no significant changes in other items.

The suspected fraud case also had an adverse impact

on operating cash flow. In the first half, this situation

led to a net outflow of € 2.2 million. After evaluating

the current situation, the Managing Board is convinced

that the relevant compensatory damages claim is 

recoverable and an inflow of funds can be expected

from it in the future. Thus no great harm will accrue to

paragon. Despite this burden, with a cash inflow of 

€ 6.2 million (2006: € 4.2 million), paragon generated

strong operating cash flow for the entire year 2007.

The Company’s capital expenditure was € 12.5 million

after € 21.0 million in 2006. The financing activity

brought the Group an inflow of cash and cash 

equivalents of € 4.3 million (2006: € 21.1 million).

Taking all aspects into account, the Managing Board

feels that the paragon Group’s financial position is very

satisfactory. Furthermore, various measures were 

initiated in the year under review and will continue to

be initiated in the current year that can be expected to

lead to further improvements in 2008 and in particular

in subsequent years.

Employees

Thanks to our profitable business model and the high

motivation and innovative strength of our committed

employees, paragon has been on the success track since

its founding. In order to achieve the planned growth 

targets in the future as well, the primary goal of human

resources is to retain, expand and support the existing

knowledge and the experience of each employee for

the Group. 

As of December 31, 2007, a total of 594 employees 

were employed with paragon worldwide (2006: 564); 

of that number, 527 worked in Germany and 67 abroad.

The new employees reinforce both production and 

research and development, which is a very important

department for paragon. In addition, paragon employed

a total of 60 temporary workers as of December 31,

2007 (December 31, 2006: 85). As of fiscal 2007, the

expense incurred for these persons is no longer 

recognized in cost of materials but is instead reported 

in personnel costs. The previous year’s figures were 

adjusted accordingly. Personnel expenses have risen 

correspondingly, from € 26.6 million to € 27.6 million.

This figure is composed of salaries and wages in the

amount of € 21.4 million, social security contributions 

of € 3.4 million and pension expenses of € 0.2 million.

Additional expenses of € 2.6 million were incurred for

the contract employees. 

Employees by site (not including temporary workers)

Delbrück 98

Suhl 287

Cadolzburg 69

St. Georgen 67

Heidenheim 3

USA 65

Paris, France 3

Osaka, Japan 2
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High innovative power and professional and technical

expertise are among the most important success factors

of the paragon products. For that reason, the Company

invests in the continuing education of its employees and

in succession planning. At year-end 2007, paragon had 

a total of 20 trainees in industrial and commercial 

occupations at the Delbrück and Suhl locations. In 

addition to the opportunity to prepare academic papers

and theses, the Company also offered internships for 

secondary school students. Both offers were used 

intensively. paragon performs pioneering work through

the project “School-Business“ that provides secondary

school students profound insights into the world of work

through projects supported by the Company. For the first

time, paragon has also offered an advancement award

to the University of Paderborn, which was awarded in

February 2008 for outstanding achievement in the field

of automotive engineering.

Remuneration of the Managing Board

The composition of the Managing Board changed 

significantly in fiscal 2007. The former Chief Financial

Officer, Hans-Jürgen John, resigned in August. His 

successor, Volker Brinkmann, took over the position on

November 15, 2007. In addition, Golo Alexander Wahl

joined the top layer of management on October 1, 2007 

by taking over the Managing Board position of Marketing

& Sales. 

Due to these changes and severance packages or 

benefits in connection with severance packages, the 

total remuneration of the Managing Board is not directly

comparable with the previous year and came to € 2.0

million in the year under review (2006: € 1.6 million).

The fixed remuneration included therein came to € 0.7

million (2006: € 0.6 million). The performance-related

bonus totaled € 0.6 million (2006: € 0.5 million) and

depends on the financial developments in the past fiscal

year, particularly EBIT. Furthermore, total remuneration

of the Managing Board also included contributions to

pension plans and non-cash benefits for vehicle use 

as well as direct insurance and similar items of € 0.7

million (2006: € 0.5 million). As in 2006, no stock 

option benefits were incurred. 

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure declined by 10.5% to € 14.4 mil-

lion (2006: € 16.0 million) and was thus at the 2005

level. The largest single investment in the year under 

review was the acquisition of the Company head-

quarters at Schwalbenweg 29 in Delbrück on June 30,

2007 for a purchase price of € 2.0 million which 

was agreed on the basis of a certified appraisal. The

acquisition will eliminate future rental costs for this

building. In addition to the expenses for capitalized 

development costs, paragon made specific investments

for replacement and expansion.

Research & Development

Innovative and high-quality products are one of the 

critical differentiating features for paragon. For that 

reason, research and development has a high priority

for the Group. At € 10.7 million, expenditures in this

area in fiscal 2007 nearly equaled the previous year’s

figure of € 11.4 million. 

Purchasing

In order to achieve the production and earnings targets,

purchasing in the paragon Group selects the most 

competent suppliers. In addition to optimal quality, the

efficiency and reliability of the deliveries must always

be assured. At the same time, the supplier should 

demonstrate high innovativeness. The price competition

in the national and international purchasing markets for
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electronic and electromechanical components and 

plotters persisted in 2007, making it possible to 

purchase the needed materials at generally more eco-

nomical conditions than in the previous year. However, 

the reduction of the use of material from € 66.0 million

in 2006 to € 60.6 is primarily due to the cancellation

of the trading goods business. The ratio of the cost of

materials to sales declined to 55.7% (2006: 59.5%).

International

High innovative capacity and professional and technical

expertise are important success factors of paragon 

products. This makes it impractical to outsource the

complete production to low wage countries even in the

future; however, paragon continuously increases its 

procurement quota with regard to components from

low-wage countries. On the other hand, new markets

are penetrated by agencies which have technical spe-

cialists in addition to sales employees. The specialists

can adapt paragon products to vehicle-specific require-

ments with the help of direct dialogue with the custo-

mers’ technicians. The resulting increase in customer

loyalty ensures that paragon will have lasting business

relationships and is a mainstay of our growth strategy. 

In addition to the production in Germany, the Company

is also active in production in the U.S. through the 

subsidiary paragon firstronic of NA Corp. In the period

under review, paragon generated sales of € 7.5 million

(2006: € 11.2 million) in the U.S. with 65 employees.

The decline in sales resulted from the phase-outs of 

several major projects, whose follow-up orders were

not started immediately. In addition, extremely minor

projects were eliminated from the sales portfolio. The

change of the dollar exchange rate further intensified 

this development which primarily affected the Electronic

Solutions segment. 

Furthermore, paragon AG has branches in the important

markets of France and Japan. In France, paragon 

successfully continued the positive trend of 2006. 

Together with the location in the U.S., the branch in 

Japan rounds out the Group’s global presence. This 

offers paragon two opportunities, one of which is the

maintenance of regional contacts for obtaining products

produced in the region. Secondly, the acceptance of the

automobile manufacturers as global partners for global-

ly awarded projects is increasingly rising. Through the

sales office opened in Turin in February 2008, paragon

has transferred the model which was successful in

France to Italy. This step underscores the significance of

our relations with the Italian vehicle manufacturers and

strengthens the Group’s export opportunities.

Events after the balance sheet date

On January 15, 2008, paragon repaid an additional 

€ 3.0 million in connection with the refinancing of

high-interest profit sharing rights. Special expenses 

incurred in this connection were taken into account in

the budgeting.

In connection with the possible compensatory damage

claims explained in the risk report shown below, the

subsidiary MONAWI Handels-GmbH, which was 

established in 2007 for trading goods business, was 

reported for insolvency as a precaution in January 2008. 

This firm had only one business transaction to report in

the form of a trading goods transaction, which ulti-

mately did not come to fruition. Since no profit transfer

agreement was concluded between MONAWI and 

paragon AG, there is no threat of an enforcement of 

liability for paragon AG from this insolvency. 

In February 2008, paragon AG opened a sales office 

in Turin, Italy, which should more intensively take 
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advantage of the growth opportunities in the Italian

market and further increase exports.

We are not aware of any other events of special signi-

ficance subsequent to year-end 2007.

Risk report

The significance of the long-established risk manage-

ment system in the paragon Group has increased with

the growing internationalization. The focus is on early

risk identification and control as well as reasonable risk

avoidance. Management is informed concerning the 

probability of occurrence and possible extent of damage

of risks in risk reports prepared on a regular basis by 

all business segments. Furthermore, the risk reports

contain recommendations for appropriate counter-

measures. Significant risks are reported to management

on an informal basis, so that the Managing Board can

act speedily whenever necessary. When appropriate,

possible risks can be effectively ameliorated and 

potential opportunities in particular can be identified

early and taken advantage of. 

However, paragon AG has learned that even the best

risk management and internal control system cannot

always prevent fraud if sufficient criminal activity is 

involved. An internal audit revealed that irregularities in

the amount of € 4.7 million have arisen in connection

with a trading goods transaction in 2006 in one sub-

sidiary. paragon still has € 2.7 million outstanding in 

the form of receivables from this transaction. In the 

opinion of legal experts, paragon has been the victim of 

intentional fraud and paragon AG supports the criminal

prosecuting authorities in their investigations without

reservation. The suspected employee was dismissed

without notice. Existing rules of internal control were

not complied with. paragon has taken various measures

to secure the receivables. For that reason, the 

Managing Board is confident that the company will not

incur a greater loss since insurance policies concluded

prior to the event may apply.

Due to these events, the Managing Board almost entirely

canceled the trading goods business for 2007 and 

passed up the sales resulting from it. The orders already

initiated for these trading goods transactions were 

reversed. From the present perspective, possible com-

pensatory damage claims by the affected supplier may

not affect paragon AG, because the subsidiary involved,

MONAWI Handels-GmbH, as a new establishment, did 

not conclude a profit transfer agreement with paragon AG. 

The additional critical risks for the paragon Group are

explained below.

Market and industry

In the last few years, paragon has successfully positioned

itself as a recognized and innovative automotive 

supplier. The economic development of the automotive

industry therefore has a great impact on the Company’s

sales and earnings situation. However, even declining

registrations can lead to higher incoming orders for 

paragon, since the automobile manufacturers compete

more intensively for customers with greater numbers of

features. The trend in the direction of increased use of

electronics in the automobile will further increase our

independence from the automotive economy.

The Company identifies sales risks and opportunities

through comprehensive and timely sales monitoring.

Market and competitor data is analyzed, rolling plans for

the short and medium term are prepared and regularly

scheduled meetings help coordinate sales, production

and development activities.

paragon continuously increases its independence from

individual sub-markets and customers through an in-

creasing degree of internationalization, the expansion of

the product range and the customer base. The Company

views Asia as a region with special opportunities to 

Management Report



33

attract new customers and additional sales and 

earnings potential. The loss of a significant customer

could nonetheless have a major impact, although, due 

to lengthy contract terms associated with vehicle series,

this would be known at an early stage. paragon 

counters this risk by means of in-depth development 

work, new innovations and outstanding customer 

service. Already at the research and development stage

of new products, paragon collaborates closely with its

customers, further reinforcing the already very close

and stable customer relations.

Purchasing and production

With the upturn of the global economy, many raw 

materials became more expensive in 2007. Additional

price increases are possible in several areas in the 

current year. The global competition in the segments of

relevance to paragon on the one hand as well as 

master contracts, annual agreements and long-term

supplier relations enable paragon to guarantee a major

portion of the purchasing costs. More than 80% of all 

goods purchased come from Europe; the remaining goods

come from the USA and Asia. Payment terms are those

common to the industry. The major purchasing currency

is the euro, with a small share also in US dollars. 

Furthermore, paragon uses continuous improvements to

optimize the production and logistics structures, thereby

improving the efficiency of the production process.

Information technology

The ever increasing use of computers and the Internet

in all areas of the Company has to the same degree 

increased the information technology risks, such as

computer failure or unauthorized access to hardware

and software. To prevent possible risks, paragon has

collaborated with professional service providers to 

develop modern security solutions ranging from 

prevention to intervention to protect data and IT infra-

structure. 

Liquidity and financing

The paragon Group operates internationally, for which

reason currency risks cannot be entirely ruled out on

the purchasing and sales side. Risks are hedged with

appropriate financing instruments if necessary, based

on exchange rate expectations that are reviewed on an

ongoing basis.

paragon safeguards its solvency through comprehensive

liquidity planning and control. This planning is prepared

on a long, medium and short range basis. Furthermore,

in connection with the aforementioned ABS transaction,

the Company has consistent accounts receivable 

management to ensure a timely cash inflow. A major

share of receivables is also guaranteed by trade credit

insurance. The risk of interest-rate fluctuations is 

insignificant for paragon, because the majority of 

long-term liabilities are secured by fixed-rate contracts.

For some of the financing arrangements of the paragon

Group, hedging covenants were agreed. A breach of

these ratios would grant the financial institution a right

of termination. From the present perspective, the 

Managing Board sees no problems in this regard.

Overall risk

Based on the evaluation of the explained risks and the

strategies developed by paragon to limit them, no risks

are identifiable that could imperil the Company. Due to

the positive operating development in the period under

review and the stable net assets, financial position and

results of operations, the overall risk situation is 

therefore not problematic. No risk can be identified 

at present or in the foreseeable future that might

jeopardize the existence of the paragon Group. By 

focusing on the Automotive segment and the progress

on the way to becoming a system provider, paragon

has in addition to its innovative products a good 

starting position to profitably benefit from the available

market potential.
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Capital Structure, Managing Board and Change

of Control  

Pursuant to the provisions of sections 289 (4) German

Commercial Code (HGB) and 315 (4) German 

Commercial Code, paragon AG provides the following 

explanations:

Capital

At the end of the past fiscal year, paragon AG’s share 

capital comprised 4,114,788 shares with a par value 

of € 1. The company’s subscribed capital was also 

€ 4,114,788. As of January 1, 2007, these shares are

entitled to dividend payments. The Managing Board is

not aware of any transfer or voting rights limitations.

The Chairman of the Managing Board, Klaus Dieter Frers,

has direct holdings in paragon AG in excess of 10% at

roughly 52%. No shares with special rights granting 

authority to control exist. 

Employees of the company or of the paragon Group 

do not hold an interest in the capital of the company 

in such a way that they do not directly exercise their

control rights.

Managing Board 

The Company’s Managing Board consists of at least two

members, who appoint the Supervisory Board, according

to the statutes. In other respects, the provisions of 

sections 84, 85 of the German Stock Corporation Act

apply. An authorization to repurchase treasury stock in

amounts up to 10% of equity and to increase capital 

up to 2 million shares (authorized capital) is in force.

Furthermore, the capital is conditionally increased by up

to 2,040,012 shares (conditional capital I, II and III). 

Portions of the aforementioned authorizations had not

yet been recorded in the Commercial Register as of 

December 31, 2007.

Subject to the condition of a change of control resulting

from a takeover bid, stipulations exist within the 

Company’s Managing Board contracts that they contain

indemnification under certain conditions. 

Environmental protection and occupational
safety

In recent years, the paragon Group has been successful 

in integrating environmental protection and occupational

safety into the work processes not only as a social 

obligation but also as a basis for business success. This

has resulted in in-depth actions and training sessions in

occupational safety, which reduces the risk of accidents,

worker stress and absence from work due to illness.

Furthermore, paragon is active in environmental 

protection. All production processes are reviewed 

regularly and optimized and compliance with legal 

regulations is monitored. Production subsidiaries in 

Germany are certified in accordance with the environ-

mental standard DIN EN ISO 140001:2005. In addition,

resources such as energy and raw materials are 

protected through the use of advanced production 

technologies. In addition to aspects of environmental

protection, quality and environmental management

make an important contribution to paragon’s economic

success in view of the sharp increases in prices for all

materials and energy. 

Report on related parties

The report that the Managing Board of paragon AG 

prepared concerning the relationships of Mr. Klaus 

Dieter Frers, the majority shareholder, to affiliated 

companies in accordance with section 312 German

Stock Corporation Act also includes Artega® Automobil

GmbH & Co. KG for the first time for fiscal 2007. Since
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August 2007, Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers has been the chair-

man of this company’s advisory board. The report con-

tains the following concluding statement:

“We hereby declare in accordance with section 312 (3) 

of the AktG: In every legal transaction enumerated in

the report on relationships with Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers

and affiliated companies paragon AG has received 

appropriate consideration and was not adversely 

effected by actions taken or omitted. This opinion is

based on the facts known to us at the time that any

dealings subject to report occurred.“

Outlook

Development of the general economy and industries

The World Bank and economists of the United Nations

expect the growth of the global economy to weaken

by 3.4% to 3.6% in the current year. In particular, the

reduced demand for imports in the U.S. as result of the

credit crisis is responsible for a downturn of global 

trade. According to data from ifo, the economic climate

in all countries of the eurozone has again significantly

worsened in the first quarter of 2008 and has reached

its lowest level since mid-2005. A less positive assess-

ment is given for the current economic situation as

well as for the coming months. In Germany, optimism 

has diminished; however, the current economic situation

continues to be assessed as very positive. Experts from 

the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Develop-

ment (OECD) expect the upturn in Germany to remain

intact and predict growth of 1.8%.

A stable trend is expected for the automotive industry

in 2008. While a slight decline is expected in Western

Europe and the U.S., the demand for passenger cars in

Asia and Eastern Europe is likely to continue to rise. 

According to data from the German Association of the

Automotive Industry (VDA), the industry started the 

year on a positive note in Germany. Passenger car

registrations exceeded the previous year’s level by 

approximately 11%. Incoming orders from Germany also

increased by 11% in January. Supported by a relatively

robust export business and a stabilizing domestic 

market, the German automobile manufacturers again 

in January slightly exceeded the already very high 

production volume of 2006 and thus achieved the best

production results for any month of January on record. 

Corporate development 

In 2007, paragon successfully asserted itself in a more

difficult market environment. The measures taken for

the continued growth of sales and earnings and the

strategic objectives will already show results in the cur-

rent fiscal year. The positioning as an innovative system

supplier will be supported on a sustained basis by the

start of the Artega® project. The project will gain new

orders for paragon from OEM customers and expand

existing contracts because the products produced for

the Artega® in low volumes can be scaled up with little

development expense. The Artega® will enable us to

convince our customers of our total production capacity

and establish ourselves faster as a system partner. 

Concurrent with that, we will be able to specifically 

expand our product range in the HMI segment (human

machine interface). The Artega® project serves equally

as a “blueprint“ for integration of all HMI aspects of

the three business segments.

In fiscal 2008, paragon expects sales growth of between

5 and 10%, an estimate that is supported by the 

current order situation. According to estimates, earnings

will improve at a higher rate than sales on all earnings

levels. Only the positive tax effect from 2007 will not

be repeated.

One focus of the current fiscal year is the optimization

of internal process and the leveraging of synergy 

potentials. The objective is to improve the bundling 

of the enormous possibilities in development offered

by the employees’ expertise and guide them more 
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effectively and to optimize the integration of newly 

developed products into production. As a result, the 

customers will be better served and cost benefits will 

be achieved. The savings in interest costs produced by

the debt conversions will increase earnings even further

starting in 2009 when the lower interest rates become

fully effective.

The bundling of development activities is accompanied

by the systematic further development of paragon as a

systems supplier in the car cockpit. The amalgamation of

the system technology of the three divisions of Instru-

mentation and Control Systems, Climate Systems and Car

Media Systems into Cockpit Systems will be advanced

further. All activities relating to user interface and gui-

dance will be merged into a powerful system compe-

tence. The Headunit developed by paragon, the new 

instrument and the MirrorPilot® are the first examples of

this. The business with components for cockpit systems,

for example climate sensors or stepper motors, is 

constantly being expanded. Through these measures, 

paragon takes into account the trend in the direction 

of innovative HMI systems and expects it to result in 

additional momentum for further growth.

Concurrently, sales activities are being redirected to an

even higher customer orientation within the context of

key account management. The German OEM customers

will be regionally assigned to the Sales Center South in

Cadolzburg and the Sales Center North in Delbrück in 

order to be able to serve them even better.

The opening of the sales office in Italy in February 2008

will provide further support for the international expansi-

on. The successful model from France with a combination

of sales and technical experts will also be applied there.

For that reason, the Managing Board expects that the

positive development will continue in the years to 

come. Due to the order level and the estimation of

new projects, we anticipate that the momentum for

growth will increase and income will rise in the years

to come. paragon is thus well equipped for the future.

Forward-looking statements contain risks

The Group’s Management Report contains certain for-

ward-looking statements. These statements are based

on current estimates and are, by their very nature, 

subject to risks and uncertainties. Events that actually

occur may differ from the statements made here.

Delbrück, March 2008

Klaus Dieter Volker Golo Alexander

Frers Brinkmann Wahl
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Consolidated Financial Statement

in € (000) Notes 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (10) 31,530 30,527 

Goodwill (10) 27,430 27,664

Property, plant and equipment (11) 32,130 31,406

Financial assets (12) 266 200

Deferred tax assets (13) 3,901 392

Total non-current assets 95,257 90,189

Current assets

Inventories (14) 17,709 17,340

Trade receivables (15) 6,259 19,880

Income tax claims 867 0

Other assets (15) 9,606 1,649

Cash and cash equivalents (16) 6,443 8,758

Total current assets 40,884 47,627

Total assets 136,141 137,816

in € (000) Notes 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Liabilities and equity

Equity (17)

Subscribed capital 4,115 4,113

Capital reserves 7,753 7,748

Distributable profit 2,464 2,206

Retained earnings 5,642 4,670

Reserve for currency translation differences - 1,824 - 1,166

Equity (since December 31, 2006 before minority interests) 18,150 17,571

Non-current liabilities

Long-term financial lease liabilities (18) 225 595

Long-term loans (18) 29,111 32,329

Profit sharing capital (19) 25,494 23,277

Investment grants (20) 9,147 10,012

Deferred tax liabilities (13) 6,691 5,229

Provisions for pensions (22) 959 1,049

Other non-current liabilities 1,898 3,795

Total non-current liabilities 73,525 76,286

Current liabilities

Current portion of financial lease liabilities (18) 521 919

Short-time loans and current portion of long-term loans (18) 20,109 13,238

Trade liabilities (18) 13,753 14,344

Other provisions (21) 1,012 1,840 

Income tax liabilities 2,929 3,413 

Other current liabilities (18) 6,142 10,205

Total current liabilities 44,466 43,959

Total equity and liabilities 136,141 137,816

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2007 (paragon AG, Delbrück)
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Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended December 31, 2007 
(paragon AG, Delbrück)

in € (000) Notes 2007 2006

Revenue (1) 108,882 110,823

Other operating income (2) 5,034 5,617

Changes in inventory of finished goods and work in progress - 158 2,622

Other own work capitalized (3) 6,717 5,619

Total operating revenue 120,475 124,681

Cost of materials  (4) - 60,648 - 65,950

Gross income 59,827 58,731

Personnel expense (5) - 27,608 - 26,573

Depreciation/amortization/impairment of property, plant and

equipment and financial assets - 11,931 - 11,742

Other operating expenses (6) - 13,490 - 11,990

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 6,798 8,426

Financial income 442 75

Financing expenses - 6,929 - 4,761

Financial result (7) - 6,487 - 4,686

Income before taxes 311 3,740

Income taxes (8) 2,153 - 1,534

Net income 2,464 2,206

Earnings per share (basic) (9) 0.60 0.54

Earnings per share (diluted) 0.60 0.54

Average number of shares outstanding (basic) 4,113,862 4,103,186

Average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 4,128,383 4,120,502
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Consolidated Financial Statement

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (paragon AG, Delbrück)

in € (000) Notes 2007 2006

Cash flow from operating activities

Income before taxes and deferred taxes 311 3.740

Adjustment for:

Impairment losses 11,931 11,742

Financial result 6,487 4,686

Losses from the disposal of non-current assets 304 210

Change of the other provisions and provisions for pensions - 918 1,898

Income from reversal of special account for grants - 2,108 - 2,183

Other non-cash income and expense 0 136

Change in trade receivables, other receivables and other assets 5,664 - 9,278

Change in inventory level - 369 - 3,359

Change in trade payables and other liabilities - 6,935 1,935

Interest paid - 6,929 - 4,761

Income taxes - 1,245 - 559

Net cash from operating activities (27) 6,193 4,207

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for investment - 14,264 - 16,016

Payments for investments in long-term financial assets

(prior year: for the purchase of subsidiaries) - 91 - 7,305

Additions of cash and cash equivalents from the acquisition 

of subsidiaries 125 240

Funds from investment grants 1,243 1,958

Interest received 442 75

Net cash from investing activities (28) - 12,545 - 21,048

Cash flow from financing activities

Dividend distribution to shareholders - 1,234 - 818

Repayment of (financial) credits - 3,103 - 11,894

Proceeds from (financial) credits taken 6,589 32,909

Proceeds from equity additions 7 111

Net cash outflow from redemption of silent equity holding 0 - 4,925

Net cash inflow from the issuance of profit-sharing capital 7,000 5,760

Net cash inflow from redemption of profit-sharing capital - 5,000 0

Net cash from financing activities           (29) 4,259 21,143

Exchange rate changes - 222 - 376

Change in cash and cash equivalents - 2,315 3,926

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 8,758 4,832

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (30) 6,443 8,758
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Consolidated Segment Report (paragon AG, Delbrück)

in € (000) Auto- Auto- Electronic Electronic Total Total

motive motive Solutions Solutions

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Revenues from third parties 88,497 87,719 20,385 23,104 108,882 110,823

Earnings before interest 

and taxes (EBIT) 6,245 7,868 553 558 6,798 8,426

Segment assets 104,095 113,722 11,468 13,295 115,563 127,017

Segment liabilities 11,398 11,182 1,608 3,162 13,006 14,344

Capital expenditure 13,754 32,047 575 1,213 14,329 33,260

Depreciation, amortization

and impairment losses 10,619 10,678 1,312 1,064 11,931 11,742

According to business segments

in € (000) Europe Europe USA USA Japan Japan Total Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Revenues from third parties 101,368 99,660 7,490 11,163 24 0 108,882 110,823

Earnings before interest 

and taxes (EBIT) 6,525 10,197 457 - 1,690 - 184 - 81 6,798 8,426

Segment assets 109,632 123,235 5,926 3,854 5 - 72 115,563 127,017

Segment liabilities 12,396 12,231 603 2,108 7 5 13,006 14,344

Capital expenditure 14,098 32,039 224 1,221 7 0 14,329 33,260

Depreciation, amortization

and impairment losses 11,883 11,464 44 277 4 1 11,931 11,742

According to geographical segments
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Consolidated Financial Statement

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (paragon AG, Delbrück)

in € (000) Subscribed Exchange rate Capital Profit Net Minority Total

capital difference reserves carried income interests

forward

Balance Jan. 01, 2006 4,086 - 790 7,565 4,224 1,264 3,695 20,044

Net income 2,206 2,206

Profits carried forward 1,264 - 1,264 0

Dividend distribution - 818 - 818

Capital increase 

(exercise of stock options) 27 84 111

Addition due to

stock option valuation 99 99

Change due to acquisition 

of shares from 

other shareholders - 3,695 - 3,695

Currency translation changes - 376 - 376

Balance Dec. 31, 2006 4,113 - 1,166 7,748 4,670 2,206 0 17,571

Balance Jan. 01, 2007 4,113 - 1,166 7,748 4,670 2,206 0 17,571

Net income 2,464 2,464

Profits carried forward 2,206 - 2,206 0

Dividend distribution - 1,234 - 1,234

Capital increase

(exercise of stock options) 2 5 7

Currency translation changes - 658 - 658

Balance Dec. 31, 2007 4,115 - 1,824 7,753 5,642 2,464 0 18,150
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Basis of presentation (IFRS)

paragon Aktiengesellschaft’s (hereinafter: “paragon AG“ or “para-

gon“) consolidated financial statements as of December 31,

2007, were prepared using the International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board

(IASB), London, Great Britain, applicable on the balance sheet 

date. All mandatory International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRSs) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting

Interpretations Committee/Standing Interpretations Committee

(IFRIC/SIC) applicable in the European Union for fiscal 2007 were

adopted. The standards and interpretations of the IASB considered

by paragon AG in preparing the consolidated financial statements

had been fully adopted by the EU by the time of release for 

publication. Accordingly, no differences exist between the IFRS as

adopted by the EU and the IFRS published by the IASB. Additional

explanations as required by section 315a of the HGB (German Com-

mercial Code) were added to the consolidated financial 

statements. The previous year’s figures were determined following

the same principles. 

paragon AG’s shares are traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in

the Prime Standard segment of the regulated market.

The consolidated financial statements present a true and fair 

view of the paragon Group’s net assets, financial position and 

results of operations. The requirements pursuant to Section 315a of

the German Commercial Code (HGB) for the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, as 

applicable in the EU, have been met.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group Management

Report prepared pursuant to section 315a of the HGB are 

submitted to and printed in the electronic version of the German

Federal Gazette.

During 2007, the following revised and new standards and inter-

pretations of the IASB/IFRIC became binding; except for IAS 1 

“Presentation of Financial Statements“ and IFRS 7 “Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures,“ they had no significant impact on 

paragon’s consolidated financial statements:

• IAS 1 - Capital Management Disclosures

• IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures

• IFRIC 11 - IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions

In connection with the publication of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:

Disclosures,“ an amendment of IAS 1 was announced in August

2005. Accordingly, information must be published in the financial

statements enabling the reader to evaluate the goals, methods 

and processes of the management of capital. In the 

year under review, the appropriate disclosures were included in the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The first-time application of IFRS 7 led to a fundamental 

restructuring of the disclosure obligations for financial instruments

in the year under review. The new standard does not have a 

substantial influence on the classification and measurement of 

financial instruments in paragon’s consolidated financial statements.

Application of IFRS 8 will convert segment reporting from the 

so-called ‘risk and reward approach’ under IAS 14 to the 

‘management approach’ with respect to segment identification.

The information regularly provided to the so-called ‘chief 

operating decision maker’ for decision-making is of key 

significance in this approach. At the same time, measurement of

segments will change from the ‘financial accounting approach’

under IAS 14 to the ‘management approach’ under IFRS 8.

The use of IFRS 8 is mandatory for fiscal years starting on or after

January 1, 2009. Earlier application is permitted. IFRS 8 will not

result in a change in disclosures in segment reporting in its first-

time application by paragon AG for fiscal 2009. 

Moreover, additional standards and interpretations as well as

changes to existing standards of the IASB whose endorsement by

the EU is still pending have been published and have entered 

into force in the meantime.

The Managing Board of paragon AG forwarded the consolidated 

financial statements to the Supervisory Board on March 26, 2008.

It is the responsibility of the Supervisory Board to review the 

consolidated financial statements and to decide if it will approve

them.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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Scope of consolidation

In addition to the parent company, paragon AG, Delbrück, 

Germany, nine companies are fully consolidated. The balance

sheet date for all companies is December 31. The scope of 

consolidation and the shareholdings can be seen in the following

table:

paragon finesse GmbH, Delbrück, under the merger agreement

dated May 23, 2007 and the resolutions of the General Meeting

of the same date, was merged with paragon forstep GmbH, St.

Georgen im Schwarzwald, with retroactive effect to January 1,

2007. The merger was recorded in the Commercial Register of the

company receiving the assets at Local Court Freiburg im Breisgau

on June 28, 2007. Under a resolution dated May 23, 2007, 

paragon forstep GmbH, St. Georgen im Schwarzwald, was 

renamed as paragon finesse GmbH. This action was recorded in

the Commercial Register on June 28, 2007. Moreover, under a 

resolution of the General Meeting of August 14, 2007, the 

Company’s registered offices were moved from St. Georgen 

im Schwarzwald to Delbrück. This action was recorded in the

Commercial Register of the Local Court Freiburg i.Br. on October

30, 2007 and in the Commercial Register of the Local Court Pader-

born on October 24, 2007.

Subject to the resolution of the General Meeting of May 22, 2007,

paragon AG concluded a profit transfer and control agreement

with paragon fidelity GmbH, which took effect as of January 1,

2007.

In view of the IFRS principle on materiality, Cullman GmbH, 

Delbrück which was consolidated in the year under review and

provided with share capital of € 25 thousand, was not included

in the consolidated financial statements. 

Shareholding Consolidation Sales in local currency

(pre-consolidation)

Germany

paragon AG, Delbrück parent company € 73,502,928

paragon fidelio GmbH, Suhl 100 % full € 1,464,435

paragon firstronic GmbH, Suhl 100 % full € 15,859,052

paragon facilio GmbH, Delbrück 100 % full € 0

paragon finesse GmbH, Delbrück 100 % full € 13,648,391

paragon fidelity GmbH, Cadolzburg 100 % full € 21,718,826

Cullmann GmbH, Cadolzburg 100 % unsconsolidated € 16,976

USA

paragon of North America Corp., Grand Rapids/Michigan 100 % full USD 5,407,707

paragon firstronic of North America Corp., Grand Rapids/Michigan 100 % full USD 11,537,508

(previously Miquest Corp.) (via paragon of North America Corp.)

Chipco Inc., Elkhart/Indiana 100 % full USD 0

(via paragon of North America Corp.)

Japan

paragon of Japan K.K., Tokyo 100 % full JPY 3,945,383

Scope of consolidation of paragon AG

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are based on the 

separate financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the

consolidated Group which are prepared according to uniform 

accounting policies in accordance with IFRS as of December 31,

2007, and audited and certified by independent auditors.

When preparing the consolidated accounts, capital is accounted

for according to the purchase method as provided in IAS 27.22 in

conjunction with IFRS 3. Recognizing shares in the subsidiaries at

their carrying amount in the parent company is replaced by 

recognizing the assets and the liability items of the consolidated

companies at fair value. The equity of the subsidiaries is 

compared with the carrying amount of the shares in the parent

company. Any difference on the assets side is reported as 

goodwill under non-current assets and is tested annually for im-

pairment in accordance with IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36.

Furthermore, a debt consolidation and an income and expense

consolidation were performed. The differences arising from the

income and expense consolidation were recognized in the income

statement.

Results arising from intercompany deliveries are eliminated from

the asset categories of non-current assets and inventory.

The prerequisites for classification under IFRS 5 were not met for

paragon firstronic GmbH, Suhl as of the balance sheet date.

Currency translation

The reporting currency is generally the euro, the currency in

which the financial statements are prepared. Since the functional

currencies of foreign companies in the Group (U.S. dollar, 

Japanese yen) differ from the functional currency of the reporting

entity paragon AG (euro), the financial statements of the foreign

companies are translated from the relevant functional currency

(U.S. dollar, Japanese yen) into the reporting currency (euro). 

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate and income

and expenses at the average exchange rate for the period. Trans-

lation differences are recognized as a separate item in equity.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an economically auto-

nomous partial entity is also translated at the closing rate in 

accordance with IAS 21.47. The resulting difference is recognized

directly in equity with no impact on income.

Foreign currency transactions when first recorded are translated

into local currency at the exchange rate applicable on the trans-

action date. 

Monetary accounts (cash and cash equivalents, payables and 

receivables) in foreign currency, which appear in the individual 

local currency financial statements of the consolidated 

companies, are valued at the rate applicable on the balance sheet

date according to IAS 21. Non-monetary accounts in foreign 

currency are carried at historical rates. Exchange differences due

to the conversion of monetary positions are recognized in profit or

loss.

Exchange rate losses from operations in the amount of € 165

thousand (2006: € 40 thousand) and exchange rate gains in 

the amount of € 111 thousand (2006: € 78 thousand) are 

recognized in the income statement under other operating expenses

or other operating income. 

As of the balance sheet date, the balance of the currency 

translation differences, which was recognized as a separate item

in equity, is € 1,824 thousand (2006: € 1,166 thousand). The

changes in exchange rate differences in equity in the amount of

€ - 658 thousand (2006: € - 376 thousand) relate primarily to

the differences from the currency translation of the financial 

statements of the U.S. subsidiaries, which were prepared in U.S.

dollars. 

The table below shows the exchange rates used for currency

translation:

2007 2006 2007 2006

1 € = Middle rate on December 31 Average rate for the period

USA $ 1.4748 1.3214 1.3728 1.2586

Japan Yen 165.340 156.940 161.441 146.234

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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Summary of significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in euros as

of December 31, 2007. All amounts – unless stated otherwise –

were disclosed in thousands of euros (€ ’000). 

The accounting policies based on IFRS applicable to the Group 

were uniformly applied to the assets and liabilities of the 

companies included in the consolidation. Appropriate deferred 

taxes were recognized for measurement differences in relation to

the statements for tax purposes.

The income statement has been prepared using the cost of 

production method. Non-current and current assets are shown

separately in the balance sheet; partial details on their maturities

can be found in the Notes. Assets and liabilities are recognized as

current if they mature within one year.

Intangible assets (industrial property rights and software 

acquired for a consideration, capitalized development costs and

other intangible assets) are measured at cost less straight-line

method amortization and any impairment losses. The useful lives

for internal development costs of the 2007 reporting year amount

to between three and four years. For licenses, patents and soft-

ware, the useful life is taken to be between three and ten years

and up to 20 years for acquired brand names. 

The accounting policies relating to goodwill are explained in the

section “Principles of consolidation.“ 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less straight-

line method depreciation and any impairment losses. The de-

preciation period is based on the anticipated useful economic life.

Financial assets are recognized at cost plus ancillary acquisition

costs due to the fact that fair value cannot be determined. 

Inventories are measured at cost at the time of addition in 

accordance with IAS 2; interest on debt capital is not capitalized.

Measurement on the reporting date is based on the lower of

weighted average value and net realizable value. 

Trade receivables are allocated as financial assets to ‘loans and

receivables’ and carried at amortized cost in accordance with 

IAS 39.9. Amortized cost is calculated to include necessary 

allowances. Allowances are undertaken based on individual 

observation, posted in allowance accounts and reported as other

operating expenses in the income statement. As soon as a 

receivable becomes uncollectible, it is derecognized and removed

from the allowance account.

Other current assets are measured at amortized cost, taking into

account necessary allowances adequate to the expected default

risks. If recourse to the courts is taken for the collection of claims

carried as other current assets, the Company firmly expects that

its recognized claims will be fully enforceable. If other current 

assets are financial assets (financial instruments), according to IAS

39.9, they are allocated to the ‘loans and receivables’ category.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, checks and bank 

balances with primary remaining terms of up to three months.

Measurement is at nominal value; foreign currency positions are

measured at fair value. Total liquidity is consistent with total cash

and cash equivalents.

Trade payables, other current liabilities and non-current loan

and finance lease liabilities and the profit-sharing rights are

carried at amortized cost (foreign currency positions at fair value).

Pension provisions exist for pension commitments to members

of the Managing Board and former employees of companies of

the paragon Group and their survivors. According to IAS 19, they

are determined based on actuarial principles using the projected-

unit-credit-method. The 10% corridor is not used; instead the 

actuarial gains according to IAS 19.95 are immediately recognized

in the income statement. Valuation was based on the actuarial 

tables ‘Richttafeln 2005G’ by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck.

According to IAS 37, other provisions are recognized if legal or

factual liabilities to third parties exist which are based on past

transactions or events and will likely lead to outflows of resour-

ces. The amount of the provisions is determined based on the

best possible estimation of the expenditures needed to discharge

the liability. The evaluation of the probability that pending 

proceedings will be successful or the qualification of the possible

amount of the payment obligations is based on an estimate of

the current situation. Due to the uncertainty associated with this

evaluation, the actual losses may deviate from the original 

estimates and accordingly from the amounts of the provisions. In

addition, estimates may change based on new information and

may have a substantial impact on the future earnings position. 

paragon AG uses derivative financial instruments to reduce 

market risks from exchange rate fluctuations in transactions in

USD by means of forward contracts and to reduce interest rate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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risks from variable interest components in bank loans by interest

rate swaps. paragon AG measures these derivative financial 

instruments at fair value, as it does not use hedge accounting.

Sales revenues are reported as soon as the delivery has been

made or the service rendered and the transfer of risk has taken

place. For delivery/supply transactions, this is basically the time

of transfer of risk after physical delivery. Furthermore, economic

benefit must be sufficiently probable and the incurred costs 

reliably determinable. Operating expenses are recognized at the

time the service is used or at the time of economic causation. The

revenues are reported less returns, discounts and sales-related

deductions.

Income taxes contain both income taxes to be paid immediately

and deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are recognized using the 

balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

are recognized for differences arising from the different treatment

of specific balance sheet items in the IFRS consolidated financial

statements and the tax accounts. Deferred taxes on loss carry-

forwards are carried as assets if it can be assumed that they can

be expected to be used in future periods due to the availability of

adequate taxable income. Deferred taxes are measured using the

tax rates applicable at the time of realization based on the current

legal situation in the individual countries as of the balance sheet

date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted 

applying the rules of IAS 12. The calculation of actual and 

deferred taxes is based on judgments and estimates made by 

paragon AG. If the actual events deviate from these estimates,

this could have positive and negative impacts on the net assets,

financial position and results of operations. 

For more information, please refer to the notes on balance sheet

and income statement items. 

In compiling the consolidated financial statements, assumptions

have been made, and estimates used, which have affected the

value and reporting of capitalized assets and liabilities, of income

and expenditure and of contingent liabilities. These assumptions

and estimates mainly relate to the assumptions made with 

respect to future cash flows from the business planning and the

discount interest rate used in the impairment calculation of good-

will, Group-wide determination of useful lives, the number of

claims for compensatory damages in litigation, the measurement

of provisions, the assessment of litigation risks and the ability 

to realize future tax benefits. The actual values may vary in 

individual instances from the assumptions and estimates 

made. Changes are incorporated, with a corresponding impact on

income, once improved knowledge is obtained.

Change of estimates

In connection with the measurement of pension provisions, the

discount rate was raised from 4.50% to 5.25% as of December

31, 2007 to reflect the anticipated long-range change in market

interest rate. The resulting effect in the amount of € 215 

thousand was recognized in current earnings in the year under 

review as actuarial gain in the defined benefit obligation. 

Until fiscal 2006, the deferred taxes on the German companies of

the paragon Group were measured using a uniform income tax 

rate of 37.6%. Based on the German business tax reform adopted

in July 2007, an income tax rate of approximately 29.0% will 

apply to the German paragon companies starting in 2008. The 

remeasurement of deferred taxes resulted in a one-time effect of

€ 1,367 thousand in the year under review.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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Notes on the income statement 

The consolidated income statement is prepared in accordance

with the cost of production method.

(1) Revenue 

Revenue includes sales of products and services less any sales 

reductions. Of the sales revenues for the fiscal year of € 108,882

thousand (2006: € 110,823 thousand), domestic sales accounted

for € 76,963 thousand (2006: € 90,409 thousand) and foreign

sales for € 31,919 thousand (2006: € 20,414 thousand).

Sales revenues are broken down according to strategic divisions

as well as regions in the appended segment report.

(2) Other operating income

Other operating income includes income from the reversal of the

special account for subsidies of € 2,108 thousand (2006: € 2,183

thousand) and income from the release of other provisions of 

€ 293 thousand (2006: € 708 thousand). This item also contains

other income from grants from the federal employment office,

exchange rate differences, use of company cars by employees

and the disposal of assets. Income from currency translation

amounts to € 111 thousand (2006: € 78 thousand). 

(3) Other own work capitalized

Own work performed includes project-related development 

expenses of € 6,244 thousand (2006: € 5,619 thousand), which

fulfill the criteria under IAS 38.45. Moreover, this item includes

capitalized costs of conversion of test equipment for automotive

products in the amount of € 473 thousand (2006: € 0 thousand),

a significant scope of which was self produced for the first time in

2007. 

The capitalized amounts are recognized under intangible assets.

(4)  Cost of materials 

Due to business considerations, the expense for personnel leasing

of € 2,624 thousand (2006: € 2,463 thousand) has been 

recognized in personnel expenses since the year under review. In

prior years it was recognized in purchased services. The 2006 

disclosures for cost of materials (€ 68,413 thousand) and per-

sonnel expense (€ 24,110 thousand) were adjusted accordingly

in the income statement for the year under review.

(5) Personnel expense

Expenses related to wages and salaries amounted to € 21,596

thousand (2006: € 20,067 thousand). The sum of € 3,388 thou-

sand (2006: € 4,043 thousand) was expended on social security

contributions and pensions. This amount included expenses for

pensions of € 447 thousand (2006: € 492 thousand). As of fiscal

2007, the expense for personnel leasing of € 2624 thousand 

(€ 2,463 thousand) is reported as personnel expense. Until 2006,

this expense was reported as purchased services within cost of

materials. 

(6) Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are comprised primarily of legal and

consultancy fees, investor relations expenses, advertising and

marketing, vehicle costs, costs related to EDP fees and EDP 

training, costs related to building rentals and energy, as 

well as leasing and corporate insurance expenses. Expenses 

from currency translation amount to € 165 thousand (2006: 

€ 40 thousand). 

Other operating expenses in the reporting year amounted to 

€ 13,325 thousand (2006: € 11,950 thousand). 

In conformity with the international reporting system, the 

expense for other taxes of € 46 thousand (2006: € 65 thousand)

was recognized in the year under review as a component of other

operating expenses and no longer as a separate item in the 

income statement. The 2006 disclosure of other operating 

expenses (€ 11,925 thousand) was adjusted accordingly in the

income statement.

(7) Financial result

The financial result includes interest and similar income 

amounting to € 442 thousand (2006: € 75 thousand) and 

interest expense of € 6,929 thousand (2006: € 4,761 thousand).

in € (000) 2007 2006

Raw materials and supplies 56,825 61,840

Purchased services 3,823 4,110

Total 60,648 65,950

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007



50

(8) Income taxes 

Income taxes contain reimbursement claims in the amount of 

€ 135 thousand for a tax loss carryback to 2006, income tax 

liabilities of subsidiaries in the United States (€ 36 thousand) and

Japan (€ 1 thousand), and deferred taxes. Tax expenses included

€ - 97 thousand (2006: € 2,405 thousand) in income taxes and

€ 2,056 thousand (2006: € 871 thousand) in deferred taxes. 

Deferred taxes are the result of timing differences in reporting

between the Company’s statements for tax purposes and the 

consolidated financial statements using the liability method, as

well as loss carryforwards from the U.S. and Japanese subsidiaries.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are formed in connection with

the following accounts and situations:

The increase in deferred tax assets is primarily attributable to 

losses of the year 2007. The deferred tax liabilities on intangible

assets relate primarily to the capitalization of development 

expenses as well as additional intangible assets acquired in 

connection with the acquisition of the remaining 49% of the 

shares in paragon fidelity GmbH. The reduction in deferred tax 

liabilities results primarily from the amortization of the develop-

ment costs and intangible assets in fiscal 2007. 

Domestic deferred taxes were computed as of December 31, 2007

in the amount of a combined income tax rate of approximately

29%, including a corporate tax rate of 15.0% in solidarity 

surcharge of 5.5%.

A combined income tax rate of 34% was used in calculating 

deferred taxes in the U.S. and 41% in Japan.

Deferred tax assets amounting to € 3,901 thousand (€ 3,394

thousand) involve € 2,501 thousand (2006: € 3,010 thousand)

related to domestic taxes and € 1,400 thousand (2006: € 384

thousand) related to foreign taxes. Deferred tax liabilities 

amounting to € 6,691 thousand (2006: € 8,231 thousand) relate

only to domestic taxes. Domestic deferred tax assets of € 2,501

thousand (2006: € 3,010 thousand) relate to deferred tax claims

arising from timing differences in valuation. 

Domestic corporate tax loss carry forwards in the amount of 

€ 2,509 thousand primarily resulted from the domestic tax 

income in 2007, for which deferred tax assets in the amount of 

€ 394 thousand were recognized as well as for the trade tax loss

carryforwards arising in the year under review. Loss carryforwards

in Germany may be used at any time provided the minimum 

taxation is considered, whereas in the U.S. their use is limited to

20 years.

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax

assets liabilities assets liabilities

Intangible assets 1,584 6,281 2,385 7,498

Property, plant and equipment 190 0 96 311

Receivables and other assets 987 34 252 58

Provisions for pensions 147 0 178 0

Other provisions 0 44 99 0

Liabilities 0 175 0 167

Profit sharing rights 61 157 0 197

Tax loss carryforwards 932 0 384 0

3,901 6,691 3,394 8,231

Net balance 0 0 - 3,002 - 3,002

3,901 6,691 392 5,229
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Foreign deferred tax claims of € 1,400 thousand relate to the

subsidiaries in the U.S. and Japan as of December 31, 2007. Tax

loss carry forwards in the amount of USD 1,820 thousand exist for

the subgroup paragon of North America Corp. as of the balance

sheet date. 

Deferred tax claims relating to the loss carryforwards of paragon

of Japan K.K. amount to € 118 thousand and constitute the 

current loss from fiscal 2007, translated at € 286 thousand. 

Based on current positive earnings forecasts, in particular with 

regard to the manufacture of new products in the telecommuni-

cations division in the U.S., the Managing Board assumes that the

tax losses available as of December 31, 2007, can be utilized in

the medium term. 

Deferred tax liabilities in the amount of € 6,629 thousand reflect

temporary differences in valuation and chiefly apply to intangible

assets capitalized under IFRS but which may not be capitalized

under German tax law. € 2,770 thousand in deferred tax 

liabilities were recorded without impact on income as a conse-

quence of the acquisition of 49% of the shares in paragon fidelity

Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and the related purchase price 

allocation. 

Dividends to be paid by paragon AG in the future have no impact

on the Group’s tax burden.

Pursuant to IAS 12.81 the actual tax expense is to be compared

with the tax expense that would theoretically result from using

the applicable tax rates on reported pre-tax earnings.

Of the income taxes for fiscal 2007 in the amount of € - 97 

thousand (2006: € 1,534 thousand), domestic taxes accounted

for € - 135 thousand (2006: € 1,918 thousand) and foreign 

taxes for € 38 thousand (2006: € - 384 thousand). Income taxes

are composed of current income taxes of € - 135 thousand

(2006: € 2,405 thousand), fully attributable to domestic taxes

and resulting from a loss carryback after 2006, as well as 

deferred income taxes of € - 2,056 thousand (2006: € - 871

thousand), of which € - 1,040 thousand (2006: € - 487 thousand)

relate to domestic taxes and € - 1,016 thousand (2006: € - 384

thousand) to foreign taxes.

The following statement reconciles the theoretical tax expense to

the actual tax expense.

in € (000) 2007 2006

Group net income before tax 311 3.740

Theoretical tax expense at a tax rate of 37.6 % 117 1.406

Tax effects of subsidiary with negative contributions to consolidated income 0 - 140

Differences arising from disparity in tax rates - 131 14

Tax effects from non-deductible expenses and tax-exempt income - 210 86

Differences resulting from consolidation measures 0 - 138

Tax expense from previous years - 135 369

Loss carryback 135 0

Effect of change in tax rate - 1,367 ––

Miscellaneous - 562 - 63

Actual income tax expense - 2,153 1,534
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Until December 31, 2007, paragon’s deferred taxes were based

on an income tax rate of 37.6%. As of the third quarter of 2007,

an income tax rate of approximately 29.0% is recognized due to

the business tax reform adopted in 2007.

The tax rate change resulted in an impact on earnings of € 1,367

thousand in the year under review.

(9) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing Group net 

income by the weighted average number of shares issued. The

weighted average number of shares issued was 4,113,862 in the

year under review (2006: 4,103,186).

With Group net income of € 2,464 thousand (2006: € 2,206

thousand), the basic earnings per share is € 0.60 (2006: € 0.54)

To calculate diluted earnings per share, the number of all 

potentially diluting shares is added to the weighted average

number of shares issued. 

paragon AG’s stock option plans create the basis for a potential 

dilution of earnings per share. Under these plans, management

receives option rights for the purchase of paragon AG shares. 

Exercising these subscription rights depends on the price move-

ment of the paragon share. During 2007, based on an average

share price of € 11.57 (2006: € 13.93) and a strike price of 

€ 7.98 (first tranche), € 3.78 (second tranche), € 3.88 (third

tranche) and € 15.09 (fourth tranche), dilution by 14,521 shares

occurred (2006: 17,317). 

The following formula was used for calculating the diluting 

shares:

Potentially diluting common shares [each] = 

subscription rights issued [each] x (1 - strike price )

1st tranche

1,079 = 3,477 x (1 - € 7.98 ) 

2nd tranche

2,809 = 4,172 x (1 - € 3.78 ) 

3rd tranche

10,633 = 15,998 x (1 - € 3.88 ) 

4th tranche

0 = 30,000 x (1 - € 15.09) 

The number of shares to be used in calculating the diluted 

earnings thus rose to 4,128,383 (2006: 4,120,502). The diluted

earnings per share figure is rounded to € 0.60 (2006: € 0.54).

The diluted earnings per share figure was calculated according to

IAS 33.24 et seqq. 

Further explanation concerning the stock option program can be

found in Item (34).

€ 11.57

€ 11.57

€ 11.57

€ 11.57

Ø Share price
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

Assets

Changes in non-current assets are presented in a separate fixed

asset schedule which is appended to the notes. 

(10) Goodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired for a consideration are reported at 

cost. They are amortized over their useful life using straight-line

depreciation. For licenses, patents and software, the useful life is

between three and ten years; for acquired trademark rights it is

up to 20 years. To the extent necessary, impairment losses are 

recognized. These can be reversed at a later date, if reasons for

the original impairment loss are permanently eliminated. Due to

the voluntary earlier application of IFRS 3 (2004), goodwill has

not been amortized since January 1, 2004. Goodwill refers 

exclusively to the Automotive business segment. An impairment

test as defined in IAS 36 (2004) must be performed at least 

annually. A review showed that there were no events and 

circumstances in fiscal 2007 that led to impairment. Goodwill

from the companies included in the U.S. subgroup amounts to 

€ 2,015 thousand (USD 2,971 thousand) as of December 31, 2006. 

Goodwill of € 9.9 million has arisen as a result of the acquisition

of the remaining 49% of the shares in paragon fidelity Verwal-

tungs-GmbH, Suhl, during 2006. Together with the goodwill from

the 51% shareholding acquired in 2005, goodwill attributable to

the cash-generating unit paragon fidelity GmbH, Cadolzburg, now

amounts to € 23.8 million.

Pursuant to IAS 36, goodwill must be annually tested for 

impairment by comparing the carrying amount of a cash-

generating unit with the recoverable amount. Each individual 

legal entity is regarded as a cash-generating unit. The recoverable

amount corresponds to the value in use determined according to

the discounted cash flow method. The basis for determining 

future cash flows is the data from the detailed corporate planning

for the fiscal years until 2011 with a subsequent transition to 

perpetual annuity (two-phase model). The free cash flows are

discounted at an appropriate interest rate to determine the 

present value of the cash flows. The interest rate for the impair-

ment test determined according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model

(CAPM) amounted to 9.1% in fiscal 2007 (2006: 7.1%). The

growth rates on which the budgeting is based are derived from

the sales planning.

If the recoverable amount of a business division is less than its

carrying amount, an impairment loss in the amount of the 

difference is recognized in goodwill.

An intangible asset produced in the development or during the

development phase of an internal project is to be capitalized at

cost, providing criteria (a) to (f) IAS 38.45 are met, and amortized

over the anticipated useful life of from three to four years. 

Total development costs for the period amounted to € 10,020

thousand (2006: € 11,350 thousand). Of that amount, € 6,244

thousand (2006: € 5,619 thousand) in internal development

costs were capitalized as intangible assets; amortization during

the fiscal year amounted to € 2,531 thousand (2006: € 2,571

thousand). This includes an impairment loss of € 138 thousand

(2006: € 528 thousand) in accordance with IAS 38.97 in 

conjunction with IAS 36. As of the balance sheet date, total 

internal development costs have been capitalized as intangible

assets with a residual carrying amount of € 10,643 thousand

(2006: € 6,940 thousand). Development has been focused on

the communications division with Car Media Systems, air quality

sensors and air quality treatment for automobiles, as well as in

the area of instrumentation and control. 

(11) Property, plant and equipment

Plant, property and equipment is measured at cost and 

depreciated according to the straight-line method over the 

expected useful life of the asset. Subsequent purchase costs are

capitalized. Where acquisitions are made in a foreign currency,

subsequent changes in exchange rates have no effect on the 

reporting of original cost. 

In the case of buildings, the useful life is considered to be 20 to

25 years, for technical plant five to ten years, and for other plant

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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and office furniture and equipment three to ten years. To the 

extent necessary, impairment losses are recognized pursuant to

IAS 36, which can be reversed at a later date if reasons for the

original impairment are permanently eliminated. The terms used

for depreciation and useful life are reviewed on a yearly basis.

Where items are rented or leased and beneficial ownership lies

with the Group company concerned (finance lease), they are 

capitalized at the lower of the net present value of lease 

installments or their fair value in accordance with IAS 17 and 

depreciated over their useful life. Portions of movable fixed assets

are financed under lease contracts that normally run for four 

years. Payments corresponding to future lease installments are

recorded as liabilities. The net carrying amount of capitalized 

lease objects as of December 31, 2007 amounts to € 1,812 

thousand (2006: € 2,680 thousand). Corresponding payment 

obligations from future lease installments amount to € 746 

thousand (2006: € 1,514 thousand) and are recorded as 

liabilities. Capitalized lease objects are without exception 

technical plant and machinery. 

(12) Financial assets

Shares in the amount of € 266 thousand (2006: € 200 thousand)

relate primarily to the unconsolidated investment in Paderborner

Stadiongesellschaft mbH, Paderborn. The shares are recognized at

cost of € 266 thousand (2006: € 200 thousand), since no 

different present value is available.  

In addition, they still contain the shares of Cullmann GmbH which

were impaired to a residual value of € 1 in the year under 

review.

(13) Deferred taxes 

All income tax amounts to be paid in future arising from timing

differences that are subject to taxes are accounted for as deferred

tax liabilities; all future refundable amounts resulting from 

deductible timing differences, unutilized tax loss carryforwards

and tax credits are reported as deferred tax assets. Deferred taxes

are provided for in accordance with IAS 12. Tax rates applicable at

the balance sheet date or future tax rates already resolved and

known are recorded according to the ‘liability method’. Additional

explanation on deferred tax assets and liabilities is included under

Item (8).

(14) Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

Inventories are valued at cost. In accordance with IAS 2, costs 

include, in addition to direct costs, overhead costs that can be 

attributed to the production process including appropriate 

depreciation on production equipment (costs of conversion). 

Pursuant to IAS 23.7, financing costs are directly recognized as an

expense. If lower, the net realizable value is recorded. 

Write-downs of inventory to the lower net realizable value as of

the balance sheet date amount to € 301 thousand (2006: € 877

thousand). As in the prior year, there were no grounds for 

reversals of impairment losses. As in 2006, no inventories were

used to secure liabilities as of the balance sheet date. 

Orders that would need to be reported under IAS 11 (long-term

construction contracts) did not exist on the balance sheet date.

(15) Trade receivables and other assets

Trade receivables and other assets are recognized at amortized

cost. The reduction in trade receivables compared to the previous

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Raw materials and supplies 8,838 8,056

Work in progress and

finished goods 8,517 8,901

Advance payments

on inventory 354 383

Total 17,709 17,340

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Trade receivables 6,259 19,880

Other assets 9,606 1,649

Total 15,865 21,529

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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year results primarily from sales of accounts receivable to 

two factoring companies. Since all substantial opportunities and

risks are transferred to the buyer, the trade receivables were 

completely de-recognized. Unless covered by insurance, the 

default and transfer risks are taken into account by adequate 

allowances in the amount of € 236 thousand (2006: € 407 

thousand). Receivables in foreign currency are translated at the

exchange rate applicable at the time of the transaction. As of the

balance sheet date, receivables in foreign currency are converted

at the closing rate. 

The increase in other assets results primarily from a claim arising

from a loan agreement and claims for compensatory damages 

(€ 5,826 thousand). Please refer to the details in the Manage-

ment Report with regard to the claim for compensatory damages. 

(16) Cash and cash equivalents

Changes in cash and cash equivalents that constitute financing

funds according to IAS 7 are shown in the appended cash flow

statement. Cash on hand and bank deposits are shown at 

nominal value. Cash and cash equivalents include € 19 thousand

(2006: € 7 thousand) in cash on hand and € 6,424 thousand

(2006: € 8,751 thousand) in bank deposits.

Liabilities and equity

(17) Equity

Changes in equity are shown in the statement of changes in 

equity. Financial instruments are allocated to equity according to

their economic nature in accordance with IAS 32.18.

paragon AG’s share capital as of December 31, 2007 amounts to

€ 4,114,788 (2006: € 4,113,063) and is divided into 4,114,788

bearer shares with a notional share in capital of € 1.00 each. The

capital increase is the result of the exercise of 1,725 options 

under paragon AG’s stock option plan no. 1.

The capital reserve includes additional cash payments for the 

issue of shares. It rose during fiscal 2007 due to the exercise of

option rights – by € 5 thousand (2006: € 84 thousand) and the

granting of share-based payments in accordance with IFRS 2 – by

€ 0 thousand (2006: € 99 thousand). The capital reserve thus

changed during fiscal 2007 from € 7,748 thousand to € 7,753

thousand.

Exchange rate differences arising from the translation of financial

statements prepared in foreign currencies or during consolidation

are recognized directly in equity without impact on profit or loss

in accordance with IAS 21.

Further explanation concerning the stock option plan can be

found in Item (34).

Authorized capital

In accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting

dated May 24, 2005, on the suspension of authorized capital and

the creation of new authorized capital, as well as on the 

corresponding modification of the statutes, the Managing Board

was authorized in pursuant to section 5 para. 6 of the statutes,

with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to raise the Company’s

capital in the period to April 30, 2010, by the issue of new bearer

shares against cash or non-cash contributions on one or more 

occasions, however, not exceeding € 2,000,000 in total. Share-

holders are to be granted subscription rights. 

The Managing Board, however, is authorized, with the consent of

the Supervisory Board, to:

• exclude the subscription rights of shareholders up to an amount

of 10% of the share capital, in order to issue new shares against

cash contributions at an issue price not significantly lower than

the stock exchange price,

• exclude shareholders from subscription rights in order to issue

new shares against non-cash contributions for the acquisition of

companies or interests in companies and

• exclude fractional amounts from subscription rights of sharehol-

ders.

The Managing Board is entitled to establish conditions of the 

share issue with the consent of the Supervisory Board. The Super-

visory Board is authorized to modify the version of the statutes

with respect to the scope of capital increases from authorized 

capital.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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Moreover, in accordance with the resolution of the Annual 

General Meeting on May 22, 2007, the Managing Board is 

authorized to acquire shares of the Company as intended under

section 71 (1) no. 8 of the AktG (German Stock Corporation Act).

The authorization for the purchase of treasury shares resolved at

the Annual General Meeting of May 17, 2006, was rescinded from

the moment at which the new authorization became effective.

The new authorization is restricted to the acquisition of shares not

exceeding 10% of existing capital in order to

• offer such shares to third parties in the event of mergers or the

acquisition of companies or interests in companies,

• sell them at a price not significantly lower that the Company’s

share price as quoted on the stock exchange at the time of the

sale, 

• them to fulfill conversion rights and options granted at the time

the bonds were issued, or

• to withdraw them.

The new authorization is in effect until November 21, 2008. It

may not be exercised to trade in treasury shares.

As of the balance sheet date, no shares have yet been issued 

under authorized capital.

Conditional capital

A conditional capital increase of up to € 284,874.00 by issue of

284,874 common shares was resolved (Stock option plan no. 1)

by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of October 17, 2000,

modified by the Annual General Meeting resolution of May 15,

2002, and supplemented by the resolution of the Annual General

Meeting of May 12, 2004. The conditional capital increase is to be

used only for granting option rights to the Managing Board and

employees of paragon AG and to directors and employees of its

subsidiaries. As of the balance sheet date, conditional capital I 

relating to the exercise of options amounted to € 175,012.

The resolution on additional issues of option rights to Managing

Board members and senior executives of the Company (Stock 

option plan no. 2) was passed at the same time in the Annual 

General Meeting of May 12, 2004. Additional conditional capital

II, entailing a conditional capital increase of up to € 115,000 by

the issue of 115,000 no par-value shares, was created to secure

these option rights. As of the balance sheet date, no option rights

had yet been issued from this conditional capital.

A conditional capital increase of € 1,750,000 by issue of

1,750,000 no par-value shares was resolved (conditional capital

III) by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of May 22, 

2007. 

The conditional capital increase exclusively serves the purpose of

granting shares to the holders or creditors of conversion rights

and/or options from bonds which were issued pursuant to the

authorization of the Annual General Meeting of May 22, 2007 to

issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants against cash

pursuant to the bond terms. The authorization is effective until

April 30, 2012. As of the balance sheet date, no option rights had

yet been issued from this conditional capital.

The Managing Board may, with the consent of the Supervisory

Board, also issue convertible bonds for which the holders of 

convertible bonds may be required under the bond terms or by

the Managing Board, with the consent of the Supervisory board,

to exchange the bonds for shares of paragon AG during the 

conversion period or at its end.

The bond terms of bonds granting or specifying a conversion

right, a conversion obligation and/or an option, may also deter-

mine that in the event of conversion or exercise of an option,

own shares of the Company can be granted.

The shareholders of paragon AG are entitled to subscribe to the

bonds. The bonds may also be offered to the shareholders of 

paragon AG by way of an indirect subscription right.

The Managing Board is also authorized, with the consent of the

Supervisory Board, to exclude shareholders from subscription

rights if the issue price of the bonds is not significantly lower than

the fair value of the convertible bonds or bonds with warrants.

This authorization applies however only if shares issued or to be

issued to service the conversion rights or options or in the event

of mandatory conversion do not exceed 10% of the share capital.

Counted toward this limitation to 10% of the share capital are

shares issued from authorized capital with exclusion of subscription

rights under section 203 (1) and (2) in conjunction with section
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186 (3) sentence 4 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and

treasury shares sold based on an authorization pursuant to section

71 (1) No. 8 sentence 5 in conjunction with section 186 (3) 

sentence 4 AktG, with exclusion of subscription rights.

Each option right carries an entitlement to acquire one paragon

AG bearer share with a notional share capital value of € 1.00.

Dividend distribution

For fiscal year 2007, a proposal will be made to the Annual 

General Meeting to distribute a dividend of € 0.10 (2006: 

€ 0.30) per share. For 4,114,788 shares (2006: 4,113,063 

shares), this implies a total dividend payment of € 411,478.80

(2006: € 1,233,918.90)

(18) Liabilities  

Loan liabilities and trade payables are recorded at amortized cost.

Amortized cost of a financial debt is the amount 

• at which the financial debt was initially measured

• minus any repayments and

• minus or plus the accumulated distribution of any differences

between the original amount and the repayable amount at 

maturity (premium, discount or transaction costs), which are 

apportioned over the term of the financial debt using the 

effective interest method.

Interest expense from amortization of discounts during fiscal 2007

amounted to € 132 thousand (2006: € 83 thousand).

For some of the financing through bank credits of the paragon

Group, hedging covenants were agreed (€ 22,629 thousand).

Non-compliance with these financial covenants would entitle 

the financial institutions to a right of termination. From the 

present perspective, the Managing Board sees no problems in 

this regard.

Liabilities in foreign currency are translated at the exchange 

rate applicable at the time of the transaction. At the balance

sheet date, liabilities in foreign currency are translated at the 

closing rate.

Liabilities under finance leases (in particular lease agreements)

normally have a term of four years. Repayments for the following

years amount to € 746 thousand (2006: € 1,515 thousand), of

which € 521 thousand will come due during the 2008 calendar

year. Future interest payments related to lease agreements

amount to a total of € 35 thousand of which € 27 thousand 

will come due during 2008. Liabilities under finance leases are 

recorded at their present value or amortized cost in accordance

with IAS 17. 

Current and non-current liabilities to banks total € 49,220 

thousand (2006: € 45,567 thousand); collateral for liabilities to

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Current liabilities

Current portion of financial lease liabilities 521 919

Short-time loans and current portion of long-term loans 20,109 13,238

Trade liabilities 13,753 14,344

Other current liabilities 6,142 10,205

Non-current liabilities

Long-term financial lease liabilities 225 595

Long-term loans 29,111 32,329

– including those with a remaining term of one to five years – 22,910 23,090

– including those with a remaining term in excess of five years – 6,201 9,239

Other non current liabilities 1,898 3,795
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banks exists in the amount of € 10,722 thousand (2006: 

€ 11,389 thousand).

Liabilities to banks are secured by property charges for loan 

liabilities in the amount of € 9,895 thousand (2006: € 11,149

thousand), collateral assignment of property, plant and 

equipment of € 827 thousand (2006: € 240 thousand) and 

by the cession of rights and claims under a subsidy notice of the

Thüringer Aufbaubank concerning € 5,027 thousand dated 

June 21, 2005. 

In addition to the property charges, additional securities exist for

some of the liabilities mentioned above in the form of collateral

assignments of property, plant and equipment or the cession of

rights and claims under subsidy notices. Additional security is 

provided by a directly enforceable fixed guarantee on the part of

Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers in the amount of € 153 thousand. 

The term of non-current financial liabilities is up to 14 years. The

interest rates for liabilities to banks are between 4.00% and

9.00% and are fixed for the contract term for the major portion of

the loans and thereby not exposed to any significant risk of 

change. Individual risks relating to variable-interest loans are

hedged by derivative financial instruments in the form of interest

rate swaps. Please refer to Note (23).

Other current liabilities chiefly refer to payment for profit-sharing

rights recorded in the amount of € 775 thousand (2006: € 1,679

thousand), as well as the remaining liability of € 1,898 thousand

relating to IKB Private Equity GmbH, Düsseldorf, in connection

with the silent equity holding reported until 2005. The remaining

liability to IKB Private Equity GmbH, Düsseldorf in the amount of

€ 3,795 thousand will be repaid in two installments on June 30,

2008 and June 30, 2009.

Other liabilities include liabilities from transport taxes or other 

indirect taxes in the amount of € 2,786 thousand (2006: € 2,050

thousand), social security liabilities of € 0 thousand (2006: € 1

thousand) and salary and wage liabilities of € 4 thousand 

(2006: € 892 thousand).

(19) Profit sharing rights 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of May 12, 2004, 

paragon AG was authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory

Board, to issue profit-sharing rights in the period up to December

31, 2008, on one or more occasions, excluding shareholders’ 

subscription rights. paragon AG granted profit-sharing rights at a

par value of one euro each as part of a private placement against

payment of a total of € 8.0 million as provided for in the profit

sharing rights agreement dated June 3, 2004.

Of that amount, € 5.0 million profit-sharing rights at a par value

of one euro each were issued to IKB Private Equity GmbH, Düssel-

dorf, and € 3.0 million profit-sharing rights at a par value of one

euro each were issued to DKB Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Suhl. The

term of all acquired profit-sharing rights was originally to end by

no later than Dec. 31, 2010.

Through a partial cancellation agreement dated June 28, 2007,

the profit-sharing rights of IKB Private Equity GmbH, Düsseldorf,

were repaid in the amount of € 5.0 million. A cancellation 

payment was stipulated as part of the cancellation agreement. 

In a profit-sharing rights agreement dated October 27, 2005, 

paragon AG issued additional profit-sharing rights totaling € 6.0

million at a par value of one euro each to Force 2005-1 Ltd. 

Partnership, St. Helier, Jersey, Channel Islands as part of the 

private placement. The term of these acquired profit-sharing

rights will end no later than January 15, 2013.

Due to the contractual form, these profit-sharing rights must be

recognized as a financial liability according to the provisions of

IAS 32. Directly attributable transaction costs amounting to € 210

thousand have reduced the value of the addition of the profit-

sharing rights as defined by IAS 39.43 and will be recorded as 

expenses over the term of the profit-sharing rights.

Holders of profit-sharing rights receive compensation consisting 

of a fixed amount independent of profit and a component that

varies with profit for the profit-sharing rights they have been

granted. Compensation including the cancellation payment totals

€ 1,886 thousand (2006: € 1,726 thousand) for fiscal 2007 with

respect to the profit-sharing rights of € 9.0 million (institutional

tranche) reported as of the balance sheet date.

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting held on May 12,

2004, the Managing Board was further authorized to offer profit

sharing rights in the aggregate par value of up to a maximum of
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€ 15 million on one or several occasions until December 31,

2008 to the shareholders for subscription. Based on this 

resolution paragon AG’s Managing Board decided to issue profit-

sharing rights with a total par value of € 14,511,016.80 to 

paragon AG shareholders, divided into 12,092,514 equivalent 

profit-sharing rights with a par value of € 1.20 each. The share-

holders of paragon AG were given preference in acquiring profit-

sharing rights through exercise of the subscription right in the 

period from November 4, 2004, to December 3, 2004. The 

subscription right ratio was 1:3; one paragon share entitled the

shareholder to purchase three profit-sharing rights. The minimum

subscription sum is € 120. The profit-sharing rights are traded

neither on the floor of the stock exchange nor over the counter;

they can only be transferred by assignment with the consent of

the Company. For the minimum term until December 31, 2010,

annual fixed compensation of six percent plus a profit-dependent

compensation of up to three percent, depending on the EBITDA

margin, will be paid. Shareholders and interested investors were

able to subscribe to additional profit-sharing rights by way of

oversubscription until December 31, 2005. As of the balance

sheet date, a total of 3,363,584 profit sharing rights at a par 

value of € 1.20 per profit-share were subscribed. The profit-

sharing rights therefore continue to amount to € 4,036,300.80.

Profit-sharing rights carry an entitlement to compensation 

from the date on which they were granted. For fiscal 2007, 

compensation amounts to € 282,541.07 (public tranche).

Due to the contractual form, these profit-sharing rights must be

recognized as a financial liability according to the provisions of

IAS 32. Directly attributable transaction costs amounting to 

€ 248 thousand have reduced the value of the addition of the

profit-sharing rights as defined by IAS 39.43 and will be recorded

as expenses over the term of the profit-sharing rights.

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of May 17, 2006, 

paragon AG was authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory

Board, to issue profit-sharing rights in the period up to April 30,

2011, on one or more occasions, of up to a maximum of € 50.0

million subject to the following conditions:

• profit-sharing rights issued under this authorization confer no

entitlements to memberships nor conversion or option rights 

relating to the Company’s shares and 

• profit-sharing rights issued under this authorization confer no

share in the Company’s liquidation proceeds.

The Managing Board is entitled to exclude shareholders’ sub-

scription rights with the consent of the Supervisory Board.

As a result of this resolution, the authorizations to issue profit-

sharing rights of May 12, 2004 lost their validity to the extent not

already utilized.

paragon AG granted new profit-sharing rights in the amount of 

€ 6.0 million at a par value of one euro each to StaGe Mezzanine

Capital S.A., Luxembourg, as part of a private placement as pro-

vided for in the profit-sharing rights agreement dated December

14, 2006. The term of these acquired profit-sharing rights will end

no later than December 20, 2013. No ordinary termination of 

these profit-sharing rights is anticipated. The Managing Board 

made use of its authorization to exclude shareholders’ 

subscription rights in relation to these profit-sharing rights.

Holders of profit-sharing rights receive compensation consisting of

a fixed amount independent of profit and a component that 

varies with profit for the profit-sharing rights they have been

granted. Compensation totals € 445,571.37 in fiscal 2007 for 

profit-sharing rights of € 6.0 million issued in 2006.

Due to the contractual form, these profit-sharing rights must be

recognized as a financial liability according to the provisions of

IAS 32. Directly attributable transaction costs amounting to € 317

thousand have reduced the value of the addition of the profit-

sharing rights as defined by IAS 39.43 and will be recorded as 

expenses over the term of the profit-sharing rights.

paragon AG granted new profit-sharing rights in the amount of 

€ 7.0 million at a par value of one euro each to PREPS 2007-1

plc, Ireland, as part of a private placement as provided for in the

profit-sharing rights agreement dated January 10, 2007. The term

of these acquired profit-sharing rights will end no later than 

January 10, 2014. No ordinary termination of these profit-sharing

rights is anticipated. The Managing Board made use of its 

authorization to exclude shareholders’ subscription rights in 

relation to these profit-sharing rights. 

Holders of profit-sharing rights receive compensation consisting of

a fixed amount independent of profit and a component that 

varies with profit for the profit-sharing rights they have been

granted. Compensation totals € 445,900 in fiscal 2007 for new

profit-sharing rights of € 7.0 million issued in 2007.
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Due to the contractual form, these profit-sharing rights must be

recognized as a financial liability according to the provisions of

IAS 32. Directly attributable transaction costs amounting to € 250

thousand have reduced the value of the addition of the profit-sha-

ring rights as defined by IAS 39.43 and will be recorded as expen-

ses over the term of the profit-sharing rights.

(20) Investment subsidies

This represents government investment allowances. Accounting

for government subsidies is undertaken in accordance with IAS

20, that is, only if there is reasonable assurance that the conditi-

ons attaching to them will be complied with and the grants will

be received. Government grants and subsidies are accounted for

as deferred liabilities and liquidated over the average useful life

of the asset subsidized. The liquidation amounts are recognized in

other operating income with impact on the income statement.

Government assistance during the year under review amounted

to € 1,462 thousand (2006: € 2,141 thousand), of which €

1,462 thousand (2006: € 2,133 thousand) consists of asset-rela-

ted subsidies. 

Provisions 

Provisions developed as follows during the year under

review:

(21) Other provisions

Legal or constructive obligations give rise to provisions in the ba-

lance sheet pursuant to IAS 37, in the event that a cash outflow

to settle the obligation is deemed likely and the amount can be

reliably estimated. The amount reported as the provision is the

best estimate of the payment that will be required to fulfill the

current obligation as of the balance sheet date. 

Other provisions are created with respect to risks arising from di-

rector’s fees, bonuses, warranties as well as legal and consulting

fees and other obligations from ongoing business operations. Ot-

her provisions include tax provisions of € 50 thousand (2006: €

207 thousand) for risks arising from claims pending for withhol-

ding tax under liability principal status pursuant to section 50a of

the German Income Tax Act (EStG). The remaining terms of all ot-

her provisions amounting to a total of € 1,012 thousand (2006:

€ 1,840 thousand) are less than one year. 

As of fiscal 2007, the provisions of a liability nature in the amount

of € 2,188 thousand (2006: € 5,011 thousand) are reported as

other liabilities. Until 2006, they were reported as other provi-

sions. The 2006 disclosure of other provisions (€ 6,851 thousand)

was adjusted accordingly.

(22) Provisions for pensions

Pension provisions are created for obligations for projected bene-

fits and for current benefits to eligible active and former em-

ployees of companies of the paragon Group, as well as their sur-

viving dependents. 

Pensions are in principle classified as defined contribution or defi-

ned benefit plans. 

In defined benefit plans the Company’s obligation is to fulfill be-

nefit commitments made to active and former employees, with a

distinction being drawn between pension systems financed by

provisions and those financed by funds. 

The paragon Group finances pension commitments by endowing

provisions. 

in € (000) 01/01/2007 Amount Reversal Increase 12/31/2007
utilized

Other provisions 1,840 1,002 293 467 1,012

Provisions for 
pensions
and similar obligations 1,049 0 90 0 959

Total: 2,889 1,002 383 467 1,971
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A provision for a defined benefit pension plan was created in 

accordance with IAS 19. This relates to a commitment of a fixed

amount at age 65 based on an individual contract. In addition to

this existing pension agreement, a new commitment was made

in fiscal year 2005. This concerns a commitment at age 65 

established under an individual contract, which is based on

length of employment and salary level. The provision was 

valued based on actuarial expert opinion using the projected unit

credit method’ pursuant to IAS 19. The calculation is based on 

assumptions of an interest rate of 5.25% (2006: 4.50%), annual

benefits indexing of 0% (2006: 0%) for the previous commit-

ment and of 10% for the new commitment (for service years 

up to 2009, afterwards 0%) and annual pension indexing of 2.0%

(2006: 1.5%). The retirement age is assumed to be 65 years for

purposes of calculation. Mortality and morbidity statistics are 

based on Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck’s tables RT 2005 G. The anti-

cipated return on plan assets is 4.5% (2006: 4.0%) p. a.

The increase in the pension provision totals € 178 thousand

(2006: € 462 thousand) not taking into account any changes in

plan assets. This reflects service costs recognized as personnel 

expenses amounting to € 291 thousand (2006: € 255 thou-

sand), interest of € 72 thousand (2006: € 48 thousand) and an

actuarial loss of € 185 thousand (2006: € 159 thousand). The

corridor provision was not applied. The option to offset actuarial

gains and losses in full against retained earnings as provided for

in IAS 19.93A was not elected. 

The fair value of plan assets is derived as follows:

The carrying amount of the reinsurance claim deducted as plan

assets from the obligation amounts to € 1,072 thousand (2006:

€ 830 thousand). The present value of the pension liability as of

the balance sheet date is € 1,771 thousand (2006: € 1,592

thousand). After deducting reinsurance claims a reportable 

obligation of € 699 thousand (2006: € 762 thousand) remains.

Another portion of the pension provision relates to obligations of

paragon finesse GmbH, Delbrück for benefits under the group 

relief fund of the former Andreas Haller Fabrik für Feinmechanik

GmbH & Co. KG and was valued based an actuarial expert opinion

using the projected unit credit method pursuant to IAS 19. The

calculations are based on the benefit plan of the group relief

fund. An interest rate of 5.25 % (prior year: 4.50%) and pension

indexing of 2.0 % (prior year: 1.5%) were used in the calculation.

32 projected benefits with a present value of earned pension

claims of active and inactive employees in the amount of € 136

thousand (2006: € 138 thousand), as well as € 25 thousand

(2006: € 29 thousand) current benefits with a present value of 

€ 124 thousand (2006: € 149 thousand) were calculated and are

reflected in the provision.

The reversal of the pension provision totals € 26 thousand (2006:

addition of € -3 thousand). This reflects service costs recognized

as personnel expenses amounting to € 2 thousand (2006: € 3

thousand), interest of € 13 thousand (2006: € 19 thousand) and

an actuarial gain of € 30 thousand (2006: actuarial loss of € 30

thousand). The corridor provision was not applied. The option to

offset actuarial gains and losses in full against retained earnings

as provided for in IAS 19.93A was not elected.

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Fair value of plain assets at the beginning of the year 830 592

+ Anticipated return on plain assets 39 24

+/- Actuarial gains and losses - 105 - 94

+ Employer contributions 308 308

= Fair value of plan assets on balance sheet date 1,072 830
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(23) Additional information on financial instruments

This section summarizes the significance of paragon AG’s financial

instruments. The table below shows the carrying amounts and fair

values of the financial assets and liabilities as of December 31,

2007 in € (000).

Valuation: Nominal Amortized Fair 
value costs value

Valuation category: Cash and Loans and Trading Available
cash equivalents receivables for sale

Assets Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value amount value amount value

in € (000)

Financial assets 266 266

Trade 

receivables 6,259 6,259

Positive fair values  

deriving from derivative 

financial instruments 158 158

Other 

assets 9,606 9,606

Cash and 

cash equivalents 6,443 6,443

Total assets 6,443 6,443 15,865 15,865 158 158 266 266

Liabilities and equity

Loans 49,220 49,418

Profit-sharing rights 25,494 25,609

Trade

liabilities 13,753 13,753

Finance lease

liabilities 746 726

Negative fair values 

deriving from derivative

financial instruments 35 35

Other liabilities 8,040 8,040

Total equity and liabilities 97,253 97,546 35 35
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The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, of short-term 

receivables, of trade liabilities and other liabilities roughly 

reflects the carrying amount. The reason for this lies in the short

term nature of these financial instruments.

The Company measures long-term receivables based on specific

parameters such as interest rates and the customer’s credit 

standing and risk structure. Accordingly, paragon sets up 

allowances for anticipated defaults on receivables. 

paragon determines the fair value of liabilities to banks and 

liabilities from finance leases and profit-sharing rights by 

discounting the anticipated cash flows using the interest rates

applicable for similar financial liabilities with a comparable 

remaining term.

The financial assets available for sale represent for paragon a 

residual measure of the financial assets that cannot be recognized

in any of the other possible measurement categories. The price in

an active market is recognized as fair value if such a price is 

available. The only financial asset held for trading involves the

shareholding in Paderborner Stadiongesellschaft mbH, Paderborn.

The shares are measured at cost, since no different present value

is available. Please refer to Note (12).

The Company generally concludes derivative financial instru-

ments with financial institutions of high credit standing as 

contracting partners. The determination of present value depends

on the type of the financial instrument.

Interest rate derivatives 

• The fair value of interest rate derivatives (interest rate swaps) is

determined from the discounting of the expected future cash

flows over the remaining term of the contract based on current

market interest rates and the interest rate structure curve. 

paragon recognizes interest rate swaps based on an estimated

value calculated using an option pricing model. 

Currency derivatives 

• The fair value of currency forwards is determined as a function

of the forward exchange rates. paragon recognizes currency 

derivatives based on an estimated value calculated using an op-

tion pricing model.

Net gains and net losses from financial instruments are realized

as shown below:

Net gains/losses

Net gains and net losses from receivables include changes in 

allowances, gains and losses from the recognition as well as pay-

ment inflows and reversals of impairment losses on receivables

originally written down. 

Net gains and losses from financial assets and financial liabilities

held for trading include all fair value changes of the derivative 

financial instruments. The Company does not use hedge 

accounting as defined in IAS 39.85.

(24) Derivative financial instruments

In addition to the primary financial instruments, paragon employs

various derivative financial instruments. As part of risk manage-

ment, the Company primarily limits the risk from interest rate and

exchange rate fluctuations by employing derivative financial 

instruments. For additional information on the risk management

strategies please refer to item (25). 

Derivative financial instruments for currency hedging 

• As of the balance sheet date, financial derivatives existed in the

form of currency hedging transactions. The paragon Group is 

exposed to a number of financial risks due to its international

activities. These include in particular the impacts of changes in

exchange rates. paragon employs an integrated approach to

hedge the risks from fluctuating exchange rates. The Group-

wide risks are managed centrally and hedged through the use

of derivative financial instruments. Only forward contracts are

used for this purpose.

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Receivables 40 - 87

Financial assets and 

financial liabilities 

held for trading 340 - 263
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The Company’s hedging strategy does not meet the require-

ments for hedge accounting as defined by IAS 39.85. Accordingly,

paragon recognizes all derivatives at fair value and reports them

under current financial assets or other current liabilities. The 

changes in fair value are recognized in the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments for interest rate hedging 

• Interest rate risk results from the sensitivity of financial 

liabilities to change of the market interest. The Company 

hedges these risks by employing interest rate derivatives. 

paragon uses non-exchange-traded interest rate swaps to 

hedge interest rates. The transactions are primarily entered into

with banks of impeccable financial standing. If the trade date

and settlement date do not coincide, then the settlement date

is used for the initial recording. 

To hedge interest rate risk, the company follows an approach

geared to individual variable-interest financial liabilities. With 

regard to amount and term, the swap contracts are tailored to the

hedged variable borrowings. 

Currency derivatives

Bank Product Contract Due on Reference Exchange Trigger Fair value Fair value

amount rate price 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

USD EUR EUR EUR EUR

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 11/22/2006 03/16/2007 250,000.00 1.2800 1.3280 –– - 4,505.18

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 11/22/2006 03/16/2007 250,000.00 1.2825 1.3380 –– - 4,528.58     

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 01/28/2008 375,000.00 1.4400 1.4721 - 6,627.19 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 01/28/2008 250,000.00 1.4000 1.4721 120.15 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 02/11/2008 250,000.00 1.4000 1.4640 - 9,053.78 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 02/11/2008 250,000.00 1.4000 1.4640 263.65 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 02/11/2008 250,000.00 1.4000 1.4640 1,735.75 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 05/21/2008 300,000.00 1.3500 1.4721 - 18,859.11 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 05/21/2008 300,000.00 1.4000 1.4721 679.38 ––

Commerzbank AG, Forward 

Bielefeld Contract 10/19/2007 05/21/2008 300,000.00 1.4000 1.4721 1,215.60 ––

Total: - 30,525.55 - 9,033.76
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The Company’s hedging strategy does not meet the requirements

for hedge accounting as defined by IAS 39.85. Accordingly, 

paragon recognizes all interest rate derivatives at fair value and

reports them under current financial assets or other current 

liabilities. The changes in fair value are recognized in the income

statement. The balance of payments received and paid under 

interest rate swaps used for hedging is also recognized in the 

financial result.

(25) Management of financial market risks

Market price fluctuations can lead to considerable cash flow and

profit risks for paragon. Changes in exchange rates and interest

rates influence the operations as well as the investing and finan-

cing activities. To optimize financial resources within the Group,

the risks from changes in interest rates and exchange rates are

continuously analyzed and the ongoing business and financial

market activities are thus controlled and monitored. The use of

derivative financial instruments makes a significant contribution

to this control. 

As a part of the overall risk management system, the manage-

ment of financial market risks is a central responsibility of the 

Managing Board of paragon AG. Part of the financial market risks

fall under the area of responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer.

The Managing Board bears total responsibility for the overall risk

management process at the highest level. 

paragon has implemented an internal sensitivity analysis system

from a variety of methods of risk analysis and risk management.

Sensitivity analysis enables the Company to identify risk positions

in the business units. The sensitivity analysis codifies the risk that

can arise within the given assumptions when certain parameters

are changed in a defined range. The following assumptions are

made:

• a rise of the euro against all foreign currencies by 10 percentage

points

• a parallel shift of the interest rate curves by 100 basis points

(one percentage point)

Interest rate derivatives

Contract Product Closing End Primary reference Fair value Fair value

with date date amount 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

EUR EUR EUR

Commerzbank AG, 

Bielefeld Swap 04/30/2004 03/15/2007 208,333.00 expired - 4,332.00

IKB Financial Products S.A., 

Luxemburg Swap 08/05/2004 03/30/2007 208,333.00 expired - 379.79

Commerzbank AG,

Bielefeld Swap 04/14/2005 03/30/2015 825,000.00 25,367.00 9,961.00

IKB Financial Products S.A., 

Luxemburg Swap 07/10/2006 12/30/2013 12,500,000.00 56,079.69 - 127,232.72

Commerzbank AG, 

Bielefeld Swap 07/10/2006 12/30/2013 12,500,000.00 52,494.00 - 128,352.00

Postbank S.A., 

Luxemburg Swap 12/07/2006 09/30/2010 2,025,000.00 8,891.67 - 686.81

HypoVereinsbank AG,  

Munich Swap 12/07/2006 09/30/2011 2,000,000.00 10,974.28 - 2,698.83

Total: 123,281.09 - 262,754.91
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The potential impacts from the sensitivity analysis represent 

estimates and are based on the assumption that the negative

market changes will occur. The actual impacts can be significantly

different due to different market developments. 

The market-sensitive assets in connection with pension plans

(plan assets) are not the subject of quantitative and qualitative

statements. Please refer in this regard to Item (22). 

Foreign currency risks

Because of its international orientation, paragon is exposed to 

foreign currency risks in connection with its ongoing business 

activities. The Company employs derivative financial instruments

to limit these risks. Exchange rate fluctuations can lead to 

undesirable earnings and liquidity fluctuations. Each paragon 

business unit is exposed to exchange rate risks when transacting

business with foreign contracting parties resulting in future cash

flows that are not in the local currency. The Company limits the

risk by primarily settling purchases and sales of merchandise and

services in the particular local currency.

paragon assesses sensitivity to foreign currency fluctuations by

aggregating the net currency position of the operating activities.

Sensitivity is calculated by simulating a 10 percent devaluation of

the euro in relation to all foreign currencies. The simulated rise of

the euro would have resulted in a reduction of future payment 

inflows in the amount of € 5 thousand as of December 31, 2007.

A reduction of € 6 thousand would have resulted for the pre-

vious year. To the extent future purchases are not hedged against

currency risks, a devaluation of the euro against other currencies

would have adverse impacts on the financial position and results

of operations because of higher foreign currency outflows than

foreign currency inflows in the Company. 

The following table shows the net foreign currency risk of the 

individual primary currencies as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

USD CHF Total USD CHF Total

Foreign currency risk from

balance sheet items

thereof: financial assets 433 0 433 61 0 61

thereof: financial liabilities 1,904 49 1,953 263 64 327

Foreign currency risk from 

pending transactions 0 0 0 0 0

Transaction-related foreign

currency position (gross) 1,471 49 1,520 324 64 388

Position hedged by derivatives 2,275 0 2,275 500 0 500

Net exposure to foreign currency position 0 49 49 0 64 64

Change in cash flows after hedging

measures based on a 10% risk

of the euro 0 5 5 0 6 6
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Two paragon business units are located outside of the euro 

currency zone. Since the Company’s functional currency is the 

euro, the Company translates the financial statements of these

subsidiaries into euros for the consolidated financial statements.

The investments in foreign companies are generally of a long-

term character and the income is to be continuously reinvested.

Should paragon sell a foreign company, the Company incorporates

the impacts of the transaction-related foreign currency risk into

the sensitivity analysis. paragon recognizes translation-related 

impacts that arise when the value of the net asset position, trans-

lated into euros, changes due to fluctuations of the foreign 

currencies in the equity of the consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risks

Interest rate risks result from the sensitivity of financial liabilities

to change of the market interest rate. The Company hedges these

risks by employing interest rate derivatives. paragon uses non-

exchange-traded interest rate swaps to hedge interest rates. To

hedge interest rate risk, the company follows an approach geared

to individual financial liabilities at variable interest. With regard to

amount and term, the swap contracts are tailored to the hedged

variable borrowings. 

Depending on whether the corresponding instrument has a fixed

or variable interest rate, paragon measures the interest rate risks

based either on fair value or cash flow sensitivity. Since the 

Company uses neither a fair value hedge nor the fair value option

according to IAS 39, no fair value risk exists for its fixed interest

financial instruments. The changes in fair value of the financial 

instruments at variable interest are not exposed to a fair value

risk but they are exposed to a cash flow risk. In determining the

fair value sensitivities of financial instruments at variable interest,

the current interest rates of the balance sheet date are shifted 

upward and downward by 100 basis points. The following 

table shows the resulting opportunities (positive values) and risks

(negative values).

The interest rate derivatives of the Company are not in a 

designated hedging relationship with the variable-interest loans.

The table shows the impacts of an interest rate curve shifted 

upward and downward by 100 basis points in parallel: 

The following table shows the opportunities (positive values) and

risks (negative values) derived from the analysis in 2006.

in € (000) Change in all interest rate curves as of Dec. 31, 2007 by

+ 100 basis points - 100 basis points

Cash flow risk

Variable-interest financial instruments - 264 265

Cash/non-cash risks from interest rate derivatives

Interest rate derivatives not in a hedging relationship

Gain / loss 634 - 671

Equity 634 - 671

in € (000) Change in all interest rate curves as of Dec. 31, 2006 by

+ 100 basis points - 100 basis points

Cash flow risk

Variable-interest financial instruments - 126 126

Cash/non-cash risks from interest rate derivatives

Interest rate derivatives not in a hedging relationship

Gain / loss 676 - 686

Equity 676 - 686
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Liquidity risks

The possibility that paragon may not be able to meet its financial

obligations constitutes the liquidity risk. These financial obligations

relate, for example to the repayment of financial liabilities, the

payment of purchase commitments and liabilities arising from 

finance leases. paragon limits this risk through effective cash 

management and having access to credit lines at financial 

institutions with very good credit standing. The Company had at

its disposal credit lines in the amount of € 21.0 million as of 

December 31, 2007.

In addition to the aforementioned instruments for liquidity 

hedging, paragon continuously follows the developments in the

financial markets in order to be able to take advantage of 

emerging advantageous financing possibilities. 

The following table shows all contractually fixed payments for 

redemptions, repayments and interest from recognized financial

liabilities, including derivative financial instruments having a 

negative fair value, as of December 31, 2007. For the remaining

obligations, the Company discloses the non-discounted cash out-

flows for the next few years. The derivative financial instruments

are reported at fair value:

The general overview of liquidity and borrowing is determined 

by calculating net liquidity and net borrowing. Net liquidity and

net borrowing is derived from the sum of cash equivalents 

minus liabilities to banks, profit-sharing rights and liabilities from 

finance leases, as shown in the balance sheet.

in € (000) 2008 2009 2010 – 2012 2013 and thereafter

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks 16,031 13,753 21,723 6,338

Profit sharing rights 4,845 1,825 8,866 19,527

Liabilities from finance leases 548 166 68 0

Trade liabilities 13,753 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities 6,142 1,898 0 0

Derivative financial liabilities 35 0 0 0

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Cash and cash equivalents 6,443 8,758

Total liquidity 6,443 8,758

Short-term debt and components of long-term debt due on short notice 23,630 19,157

Long-term debt 51,830 51,201

Total debt 75,460 70,358

Net borrowing - 69,017 - 61,600
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Credit risks

A credit risk is defined as a financial loss that arises when a 

contracting partner fails to meet its payment obligations. The 

maximum risk of default is therefore equal to the positive fair 

value of the interest rate instruments in question. Effective 

monitoring and control of credit risks is a major responsibility 

of the risk management system. paragon reviews the credit-

worthiness of all customers with borrowing requirements that 

exceed specifically defined limits. The Company continuously 

monitors credit risk. 

As of December 31, 2007, there was no reason to believe that 

significant defaults in payment would occur with respect to trade

receivables and other receivables and loans.

Trade 

receivables

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Neither overdue nor impaired

Low-risk category 4,297 11,281

Observation list category 0 30

Carrying amount: 4,297 11,311

Overdue but not impaired

Low-risk category 1,115 8,562

Observation list category 53 6

Carrying amount: 1,168 8.568

Aging analysis

0 – 30 days 590 7.263

30 – 60 days 322 160

60 – 90 days 169 371

> 90  days 87 774

Specific allowances

Total amount 1,119 153

Risk provisioning - 325 -153

Carrying amount: 794 0
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(26) Capital management

The goal of capital management is to guarantee the continued

existence of the Company, thus enabling it to continue to pay 

dividends to its shareholders. According to the Company’s risk 

situation, adequate yield must be generated for the shareholders.

Furthermore, benefit should continue to be generated for all other

interest groups. 

The capital management of paragon AG is based on ratios of net

borrowing and adjusted capital.

Notes on the cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement was prepared according to the indirect

method as defined in IAS 7.18b.

(27) Net cash used for operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents used for operating activities include in-

terest paid in the amount of € 6.9 million (2006: € 4.8 million).

The higher interest payments reflect interest expenses for new

profit-sharing rights of € 7.0 million issued in the year under 

review, on which interest in the previous year was paid only 

pro rata temporis, and expenses for cancellation fees due 

to the early repayment of profit-sharing rights (€ 5.0 million) 

in the year under review. Moreover, the interest expenses 

for short-term loans rose year-on-year due to the increased 

borrowings.

(28) Net cash used for investing activities

At € 2.1 million, investments in land and buildings relate to the

formerly leased property at Schwalbenweg 29. In this connection,

€ 1.4 million in loan liabilities was taken over and applied to the

purchase price of € 2.0 million. 

Additional significant cash outflows in 2007 include investments

in machinery of the paragon Group of € 1.9 million (2006: € 1.5

million) and payments for equipment under construction and 

advance payments for property, plant and equipment of € 2.2

million (2006: € 3.1 million).

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Total borrowing (not including subordinated debt) 92,497 96,968

./. cash and cash equivalents - 6,443 - 8,758

= net borrowing 86,054 88,210

Total equity 18,150 17,571

+ subordinated debt 25,494 23,277

= Adjusted capital 43,644 40,848

Ratio of net borrowing to adjusted capital 2.0 2.2
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(29) Net cash from financing activities

Additional borrowings in the amount of € 6.6 million were raised

for the expansion of the product business. Additional cash inflows

resulted from issuing profit-sharing rights at a nominal value of 

€ 7.0 million. Significant cash outflows resulted from the repay-

ment of profit-sharing rights of € 5.0 million and the repayment

of loans in the amount of € 3.1 million. 

Net cash inflows in fiscal 2007 were € 4.3 million. For in-

formation on the changes in profit-sharing rights, please refer to

Note (19).

(30) Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Cash and cash equivalents include € 19 thousand in cash on

hand and € 6,424 thousand in bank deposits. 

Notes on the segment report

Segment reporting reflects paragon’s internal reporting system,

which in turn corresponds to the risk and reward approach under

IAS 14. The breakdown of asset and income figures as well as 

additional indicators according to business area and regions are

presented in the segment report as stipulated in IAS 14. Business

segments are individually detailed in the management report. 

Income, expense, asset and liability accounts that cannot be 

directly attributed to a business segment are allocated using a

suitable allocation key, provided that such income, expense and

asset and liability accounts do not relate to overall corporate

aspects. Segment assets include intangible assets, plant, property

and equipment; inventories and trade receivables. Segment 

liabilities include trade payables that do not form part of finance

lease agreements according to IAS 17. 

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Total assets 136,141 137,816

Less monetary assets - 6,443 - 8,758

Less deferred taxes - 3,901 - 392

Less other non-segment-specific assets - 10,234 - 1,649

Segment assets 115,563 127,017

Segment assets are reflected as follows in the segment report:

in € (000) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Total liabilities 136,141 137,816

Less equity - 18,150 - 17,571

Less special item - 9,147 - 10,012

Less loans and other liabilities - 95,838 - 95,889

Segment liabilities 13,006 14,344

Segment liabilities are reflected as follows in the segment report:
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Write-downs include an impairment loss as defined by IAS 38.97,

in conjunction with IAS 36, amounting to € 138 thousand (2006:

€ 528 thousand) which is attributable to the Automotive 

business segment. Non-cash expenses and income are not shown

explicitly in segment reporting, as it is not possible to allocate

them specifically to the segments generating them. 

Only an insignificant number of intersegment sales were trans-

acted in fiscal 2007.

As of year under review, the former segments “Electronic Solutions“

and “Building Technology“ were combined into one segment

“Electronic Solutions.“ The 2006 disclosures were adjusted 

accordingly in the segment report in the year under review.

Please see attachment 4 for segment reporting. 

Other notes

(31) Contingent liabilities

No contingent liabilities existed for the Group as of the reporting

date.

(32) Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities amount to € 40,416 thousand (2006: 

€ 6,161 thousand), of which € 31,056 thousand (2006: € 1,939

thousand) are due in calendar year 2008. Other financial liabilities

include € 6,859 thousand (2006: € 3,390 thousand) for the next

two to five years and € 2,501 thousand (2006: € 832 thousand)

for terms exceeding five years.

Other financial liabilities include the open purchase order 

amounting to € 29,300 thousand (2006: € 5,786 thousand), of

which € 300 thousand has a term exceeding one year. 

In addition, other financial liabilities exist from lease agreements.

The liabilities under operating leases total € 1,111 thousand

(2006: € 1,555 thousand), of which € 626 thousand are due in

2008. Lease obligations with a term from two to five years 

account for € 481 thousand and those with a term exceeding 

five years account for € 4 thousand. Lease objects in the main

consist of vehicles that are returned to the lessor after the 

uncancellable basic lease period has expired. Expenses from 

leases amount to € 234 thousand (2006: € 93 thousand) in 

fiscal 2007.

The liabilities under rental leases total € 7,505 thousand (2006:

€ 3,013 thousand), of which € 931 thousand are due in 2008.

The liabilities amount to € 4,078 thousand for the next two to 

five years and € 2,496 thousand for terms exceeding five years. 

The building at Bösendamm 11-13, 33129 Delbrück, is rented by

paragon AG. The building’s landlord is Frers Grundstücksverwal-

tungs GmbH, Delbrück. The expense for the calendar year came

to € 127 thousand (2006: € 127 thousand).

Other financial liabilities account for € 2,500 thousand (2006: 

€ 0 thousand), of which € 2,000 thousand has a term exceeding

one year.

As in the previous year, no contingent assets or liabilities of note

exist as at the balance sheet date.

Please refer also to Note (31).

(33) Related parties

Related parties include members of the Managing Board and the

Supervisory Board and their immediate families. 

Total compensation of the Managing Board is € 2.0 million

(2006: € 1.6 million). This includes a fixed component of € 0.7

million (2006: € 0.6 million). The amount of € 0.6 million (2006:

€ 0.5 million) was recognized as expense for performance-

related components. Short-term performance-related components

are linked to group EBIT. 

Total remuneration of the Managing Board, moreover, includes a

non-cash benefit for automobile use, stock options, retirement

benefits and other remuneration for members of the Managing

Board in the amount of € 0.7 million (2006: € 0.5 million). For

2007, the above amount of € 0.7 million also includes severance

payments or expenses in connection with severance payments.

Please refer to details in the section “Share-based payment“ 

under item (34) for information on the performance-related 

components providing long-term incentives. 

More detailed explanations of the pension provisions can be

found in Note (22). 

Disclosure of itemized remuneration for members of the 

Managing Board and principles of the remuneration system was

waived in accordance with the Annual General Meeting resolution
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of May 17, 2006, concerning omission of the disclosures under

section 285 (1), no. 9a, (5-9) and sections 315a, 314 (1), no. 6a

(5-9) of the German Commercial Code.

In the past calendar year, the members of the Supervisory Board

received fixed compensation as well as variable compensation

through stock appreciation rights. Please refer to Item (31) in this

regard. Total compensation of the Supervisory Board in the year

under review was € 42 thousand (2006: € 45 thousand). Of 

that amount, € 41 thousand (2006: € 41 thousand) was fixed

compensation; the variable compensation component totaled 

€ 1 thousand (2006: € 4 thousand). 

As of the balance sheet date, the Managing Board held 2,111,730

shares out of a total of 4,114,788, of which 2,111,730 are in the

hands of Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers. The Supervisory Board holds 6,000

shares.

In 2007, rental payments totaling € 237 thousand were paid to

the Frers family based on existing agreements; € 202 thousand

related to the two company buildings in Delbrück. In the current

fiscal year, the Frers family sold the company building in 

Delbrück, Schwalbenweg 29, to paragon AG for a total purchase

price of € 2.0 million. The selling price was determined by an 

external appraisal and is broken down by land (€ 115 thousand),

building (€ 1,805 thousand) and outside facilities (€ 80 

thousand).

As of the balance sheet date, a directly enforceable fixed 

guarantee without consideration on the part of Mr. Klaus Dieter

Frers existed for paragon AG’s obligations to banks in the amount

of € 153 thousand (2006: € 153 thousand). 

Moreover, on the balance sheet date, an agreement was in 

existence between the State of Thuringia (represented by the

Thüringer Aufbaubank, Erfurt) and Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers 

concerning a co-debtor obligation under public law, according to

which Mr. Frers, in addition to paragon AG, assumes the liability

for reimbursement as recipient of grants. This liability would arise

if the State of Thuringia requested the Company to reimburse an

investment subsidy in the amount of € 4,898 thousand (2006: 

€ 4,898 thousand) of which € 4,898 thousand (2006: € 4,898

thousand) have been paid out as of the balance sheet date. 

Please refer to Note (31).

Artega Automobil GmbH & Co. KG (Artega) is included for the first

time in the report on related parties for fiscal 2007. Since August

2007, Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers has been the chairman of this 

company’s advisory board.

Under the cooperation agreement concluded on January 1, 2007,

the following items were charged to Artega:

• € 1.1 million for development services

• € 115 thousand for costs advanced, thereof € 77 thousand for

rent

• € 164 thousand for interest

As of December 31, 2007, receivables resulting from the charges

of 2006 and 2007 were due from Artega. The cooperation 

agreement concluded with Artega provides clear terms for 

these receivables with respect to due date and possible 

collateralization.

(34) Share-based payments 

paragon AG has been applying IFRS 2 “Share-based payment“

since fiscal 2004. Accordingly, the rules of IFRS 2 with respect to

share-based payment must already have been applied to relevant

transactions after November 7, 2002, provided the options had

not yet been exercised on January 1, 2005. 

Stock option plan 1

paragon AG grants its employees and the members of its Mana-

ging Board stock options that entitle the holder to purchase one

share for each option after the expiration of the blocking period at

a previously fixed subscription price (plain vanilla options). 

According to IFRS 2, the value of employee options that are paid

in shares (equity settled payments) is determined at the time of

the grant based on a recognized option pricing model. The total

expense that results is spread out uniformly over the blocking 

period of the option and is recognized as equity in the capital re-

serve. Changes of the option value due to changed parameters

(e.g., later price changes) have no impact on the expense to be

recognized. The same applies to options that lapse after the 

end of the blocking period. Stock options were valued using a 

binomial model. The value of the options was determined using

appropriate probabilities based on price scenarios at fixed time

intervals. 
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Assumption of an early exercise before the expiration of the total

term of the option reduces the amount recognized. 

Based on the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of October

17, 2000, modified by the resolutions of the Annual General Mee-

tings of May 15, 2002, and May 12, 2004, stock options in four

tranches have so far been granted annually to some employees

and the Managing Board of paragon AG in connection with Stock

Option Plan 1. The first tranche was offered to employees and

Managing Board members on January 10, 2001; the second tran-

che was offered on April 10, 2002, the third tranche on April 7,

2003, and the fourth tranche on November 6, 2004. 

If the options could not be exercised by January 1, 2005, the 

rules of IFRS 2 must be applied to those issued under the third

and fourth tranche, which were granted after November 7, 2002. 

The following parameters were assumed for the third tranche for

calculating the option value in the binomial model:

Date granted April 7, 2003

Total term of the option plan 6 years

Blocking period 2 or 3 years

Share price when options were issued € 3.73

Strike price of the option € 3.88

Anticipated dividend yield 1.60%

Risk-free rate 3.40%

Volatility of the share 26.0%

The valuation of the option is based on the historical 

average of the share volatility.

Option value as of April 7, 2003 € 0.94 

As a modification of the existing authorization, the Managing 

Board, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, or the Super-

visory Board alone, were authorized by resolution of the Annual

General Meeting of May 12, 2004, to, on one or more occasions,

grant option rights to a total of 123,976 bearer shares of the 

Company with a term up to six years to members of the 

Company’s Managing Board or senior executives of the Company

or executives acting as ‘division managers’ in accordance with

their employment contract in the period until the end of 2005. In

its meeting on September 28, 2004, the Supervisory Board 

decided to offer for purchase a total of 30,000 option rights in the

fourth tranche to members of the Managing Board within two

weeks of the announcement of the quarterly results for the third

quarter of 2004. 

The following parameters were assumed for the fourth tranche for

calculating the option value in the binomial model:

Date granted November 6, 2004

Total term of the option plan 6 years

Blocking period 2 or 3 years

Share price when options were issued € 15.75

Exercise price of option € 15.09

Anticipated dividend yield 1.60%

Risk-free rate 3.30% 

Volatility of the share 35.0% 

The valuation of the option is based on the historical 

average of the share volatility

Value of option on November 6, 2004 € 5.52

In fiscal 2007, personnel expense totaling € 0 thousand (2006:

€ 99 thousand) was allocated to capital reserve for the granting

of stock options of the third and fourth tranche of stock option

plan 1. 

Stock option plan 2

The resolution on additional issues of option rights to Managing

Board members and senior executives of the Company was 

passed at the time of the Annual General Meeting of May 12,

2004. Additional conditional capital II, entailing a conditional 

capital increase of up to € 115,000.00 by the issue of 115,000

common shares, was created to secure these option rights.

Each option right confers an entitlement to acquire one paragon

AG share in accordance with option conditions to be established.

As in the previous year no option rights under this program were

issued in the year under review. 
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Stock Appreciation Rights Program

(STAR Program)

paragon AG grants members of the Supervisory Board stock 

appreciation rights for which a cash payment in the amount of

the difference between the share price and the previously fixed

strike price is distributed if the option is exercised after the 

expiration of the blocking period. According to IFRS 2, the 

reporting value of cash settled share-based payment transactions

is determined based on a recognized option pricing model on the

relevant reporting date. The resulting total expense must be 

spread out uniformly over the blocking period of the rights 

granted and recognized as a liability. Changes to option rights due

to changed parameters or price changes during the year until the

time actually exercised must be recognized as an expense in the

provision in the relevant fiscal year. This results in total personnel

expenses at the level of the payment actually made. 

The stock appreciation rights program No. 1 (2003 conditions for

the granting of stock appreciation rights to paragon AG’s Super-

visory Board members) was adopted in a resolution of the 

Annual General Meeting of May 14, 2003. The STAR program 

includes a total of 20,000 stock appreciation rights, which the 

Managing Board is required to offer to paragon AG’s Supervisory

Board members in five tranches. In mid-November 2003, a total

of 4,000 stock appreciation rights were offered and granted to the

Supervisory Board in a first tranche at a price of € 8.24. Of that

amount, a total of 3,000 rights were exercised in November

2004, entailing cash payments amounting to € 21 thousand. The

remaining 1,000 stock appreciation rights of the first tranche 

were still outstanding on the balance sheet date. As a second

tranche, an additional 4,000 stock appreciation rights were 

offered and granted to the Supervisory Board in November 2004

at a price of € 15.09. These 4,000 stock appreciation rights of the

second tranche were still outstanding on the balance sheet date.

In November of 2005 the Supervisory Board was offered and

granted an additional 4,000 stock appreciation rights for € 16.43;

these rights, too, are still outstanding at the balance sheet date.

For the stock appreciation rights granted in November 2003 and

November 2004, the following parameters were used in the 

binomial model to calculate the option value:

Total term of the option plan 4 years

Blocking period 1 year

Anticipated term to end of blocking period 1.5 years

Share price on December 30, 2006 € 9.17

Strike price of the option

2005 tranche € 16.43

2004 tranche € 15.09

Anticipated dividend yield 1.60%

Risk-free rate 2003 4.07%

Risk-free rate 2004 3.86%

Risk-free rate 2005 4.12%

Volatility of the share 39.10%

Option value as of December 31, 2005

2005 tranche € 0.65

2004 tranche € 0.10

The 2003 tranche expired according to plan in November 2007.

A provision in the amount of € 1 thousand was set up as of 

December 31, 2007 for the 9,000 outstanding stock appreciation

rights of the Supervisory Board. 

By resolution of the Managing Board of April 2, 2004, the stock

appreciation rights program No. 2 of paragon AG was adopted for

the granting of stock appreciation rights to employees of paragon

AG, as well as to employees and members of management of 

affiliated companies. STAR Program No. 2 includes a total of

100,000 stock appreciation rights for the period up to December

31, 2005, and a total of 250,000 stock appreciation rights in the

period from January 1, 2006, to December 31, 2008, which the

Managing Board can offer to the eligible individuals. Each 

appreciation right confers to the participant the right to receive,

on the day the stock appreciation right is exercised, a cash 

payment in the amount of the difference between the basis price

and the share price on the day the stock appreciation right is

exercised. By the balance sheet date no stock appreciation rights

had been offered from the STAR Program No. 2. 

The following table shows the stock options and stock appreciation

rights that have been granted and exercised. 
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(35) Events after the Balance Sheet Date

On January 15, 2008, paragon repaid an additional € 3.0 million

in connection with the refinancing of high-interest profit-sharing

rights. Special expenses incurred in this connection were taken 

into account in the budgeting. 

In connection with the possible compensatory damage claims 

explained in the risk report, the subsidiary MONAWI Handels-

GmbH (formerly Cullmann GmbH, Delbrück), which was established

in 2007 for trading goods business, was reported for insolvency

as a precaution in January 2008. This firm had one business trans-

action to report in the form of a trading goods transaction, which

ultimately did not come to fruition. Since no profit transfer 

agreement was concluded between MONAWI and paragon AG,

there is no threat of an enforcement of liability for paragon AG

from this insolvency.

In February 2008, paragon AG opened a sales office in Turin, 

Italy, which should more intensively take advantage of the growth

opportunities in the Italian market and further increase exports.

We are not aware of any other events of special significance 

subsequent to year-end 2007.

(36) Risk management

Please refer to the Management Report for information on the

Group’s risk management system.

(37) Employee benefits

Since January 1, 2002, paragon AG has offered employees a 

pension option by joining a group relief fund with compensation

payments to the reinsurance-funded plan. A reinsurance policy

has been taken out with Delta Lloyd Deutschland AG, part of 

Stock option plan 1 STAR plan 1

1st tranche 2nd tranche 3rd tranche 44th tranche 1st tranche 2nd tranche 3rd tranche

Issue date Jan. 2001 Apr. 2002 Apr. 2003 Nov. 2004 Nov. 2003 Nov. 2004 Nov. 2005

Stock options granted 46,365 47,990 71,469 30,000

Stock granted Appreciation Rights (SAR) 4,000 4,000 4,000

Strike price in € 7.98 3.78 3.88 15.09 8.24 15.09 16.43

Expiration of waiting time Jan. 2003 Apr. 2004 Apr. 2005 Nov. 2006 Nov. 2004 Nov. 2005 Nov. 2006

in units

Options outstanding at start of year 3,477 4,867 17,028 30,000

SARs outstanding at start of year 1,000 4,000 4,000

Options granted 0 0 0 0 

SARs granted 0 0 0 

Options exercised 0 695 1,030 0

SARs exercised 0 0 0 

Expired options 0 0 0 0

Expired SARs 1,000 0 0 

Options outstanding at year-end 3,477 4,172 15,998 30,000

SARs outstanding at year-end 0 4,000 4,000

Options exercisable at year-end 3,477 4,172 15,998 30,000

SARs exercisable at year-end 0 4,000 4,000

in €

Valuation per option 0.94 5.52

Valuation per SAR as of Dec. 31, 2007 0.1 0.0016

Previous year 0.10 0.65

Stock options and stock appreciation rights

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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AVIVA, plc., London, in order to fulfill associated claims.

During the reporting year, paragon AG paid an amount of € 63

thousand (2006: € 77 thousand) into the reinsured relief fund.

(38) Board members

During the period under review, paragon AG’s Managing Board

consisted of the Chairman of the Managing Board, Mr. Klaus D.

Frers, graduate engineer, responsible for the Technology, 

Corporate Development, and Sales & Marketing departments; the

Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Volker Brinkmann, responsible for the

Finance and Investor Relations departments; and since October 1,

2007, Mr. Golo Alexander Wahl, responsible for the Marketing and

Sales department. Mr. Hans-Jürgen John, Verl-Kaunitz, was 

responsible for the Finance and Investor Relations departments

until August 23, 2007.

Members of the Supervisory Board

Memberships in Supervisory Boards

and other monitoring bodies

Prof. Dr.- Ing. Walter Kunerth Management Consultant, Götz Management Holding AG, 

Chairman Zeitlarn Regensburg (Chairman)

Gildemeister AG,

Bielefeld

Autoliv, Stockholm

(Member of the Board of Directors)

Dr. Klaus G. Weyer Graduate physicist, Supervisory Board of ELMOS

Dortmund Semiconductor AG,

Dortmund

Dr. Peter Penczynski Graduate physicist,  

Langquaid

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2007
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(39) Employees

The average number of employees engaged in the companies 

included in the consolidation during 2007 was 547 (2006: 526),

of which 220 were industrial workers (2006: 204).

(40) Declaration of Compliance with the German Corporate 

Governance Code 

The German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) defines the 

essential recommendations for the management and supervision

of German exchange-listed companies and contains standards for

responsible corporate management as revised on June 14, 2007.

The statement stipulated in Section 161 of the AktG was 

submitted on December 6, 2007; shareholders have 

permanent access to this statement at the Company’s website

(www.paragon-online.de). 

(41) Exemption pursuant to section 264 (3) No. 4a German

Commercial Code

Under a resolution of the Annual General Meetings of paragon 

firstronic GmbH, Suhl, paragon finesse GmbH, Delbrück, paragon

fidelity GmbH, Cadolzburg, paragon fidelio GmbH, Delbrück and

paragon facilio GmbH, Delbrück of July 31, 2007 and December

29, 2007, these companies, through the consent of the sole 

shareholder paragon AG, Delbrück, were exempted from disclosure

obligation and from the obligation to prepare a management 

report and notes. The exemption for these subsidiaries was 

published in the electronic version of the German Federal Gazette

on February 28, 2008. 

(42) Fees

Total fees paid to the independent auditor during the fiscal year

were € 305 thousand. The amount contains the costs of the 

audit of € 250 thousand, costs for other certification and 

valuation services of € 33 thousand and costs for tax consulting

and preparation of tax returns of € 22 thousand. No costs for 

other services by the independent auditor were incurred in 

2007. 

Delbrück, March 31, 2008

Klaus Dieter Volker Golo Alexander

Frers Brinkmann Wahl
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Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements

of paragon AG, Delbrück, consisting of the balance

sheet, the income statement, the statement of changes

in shareholders’ equity, the cash flow statement and the

notes – as well as the group management report – for

the fiscal year January 1 through December 31, 2007.

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements and

the group management report in accordance with the

IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and the requirements of

German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a (1)

HGB is the responsibility of the Company’s legal repre-

sentatives. It is our responsibility to submit an assess-

ment of the consolidated accounts based on our audit

examination.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial

statements in accordance with section 317 of the Ger-

man Commercial Code, taking into consideration gene-

rally accepted German standards for the audit of financi-

al statements as promulgated by the Institut der

Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit such that misstatements and

violations materially affecting the presentation of the

net assets, financial position and results of operations in

the consolidated financial statements, in accordance

with the applicable financial reporting framework, and

in the Group management report are detected with rea-

sonable assurance. Knowledge of the Company’s busi-

ness activities and economic and legal environment and

evaluation of possible misstatements are taken into 

account in the determination of audit procedures. The

effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control

system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements and the Group

management report are examined primarily on a test

basis within the framework of the audit. The audit inclu-

des assessing the separate financial statements of the

companies included in the consolidation, determination

of the companies to be included in the consolidation,

accounting and consolidation principles used and key

estimates made by the companies’ legal representati-

ves, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements and Group manage-

ment report. We believe that our audit provides a rea-

sonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit, the

consolidated annual financial statements comply with

the IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to Section

315a (1) HGB and provide a true and fair view of the

net assets, financial position and results of operations of

the group in accordance with these requirements. 

The group management report is consistent with the

consolidated financial statements and as a whole pro-

vides a suitable view of the group’s position and suit-

ably presents the opportunities and risks of future 

development.

Nuremberg, March 31, 2008

Rödl & Partner GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Dr. Keller Vörg

Accountant Accountant
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History

2007 Implementation of Artega® GT as reference object 

Expansion and reinforcement of management organization

Expansion of international sales network

2006 Complete take-over of the paragon fidelity GmbH (Car Media Systems) 

Further major orders for automotive products

2005 Acquisition of Cullmann GmbH and entering into the business with Car Media Systems

Opening of new production facility for Electronic Solutions 

2004 Acquisition of the Andreas Haller GmbH & Co. KG (Instrumentation and Control Systems)

Formation of the sensor element plant paragon fidelio GmbH

2003 Take-over of the air quality sensor sector of Robert Bosch GmbH

2002 Company-wide introduction of the quality standard ISO/TS 16949

2001 Acquisition of the Miquest Corp. (Grand Rapids, MI, USA)

2000 World market leader in air quality sensors for automobiles

Formation of the paragon of North America Corp.

paragon AG goes public at German Stock Exchange (Börse)

1999 First patents in communication electronics in the automobile 

Introduction of the quality standards QS 9000, VDA 6.1 and ISO 9001 

1998 Start of the production of components of operating elements in the automobile

1997 Concentration of production in Suhl

Large series application of paragon air quality sensors in automobiles

1995 First application of paragons` air quality sensors in automobiles

1994 Start of the development of air quality sensors

1993 Company-wide introduction of the quality standard ISO 9002

1991 Construction of a plant for Electronic Services in Zella-Mehlis (formerly robotron)

1988 Formation as electronic manufacturer in Delbrück by Klaus Dieter Frers
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Locations

paragon AG
Suhl
Sommerbergstraße 4
98527 Suhl
Phone: +49 (0) 3681 8929-0
Fax: +49 (0) 3681 8929-160

paragon fidelio GmbH
Sommerbergstraße 2
98527 Suhl
Phone: +49 (0) 3681 8929-900
Fax: +49 (0) 3681 8929-903

paragon fidelity GmbH 
Schwadermühlstraße 4a
90556 Cadolzburg 
Phone: +49 (0) 9103 5000-0
Fax: +49 (0) 9103 5000-365

paragon finesse GmbH
Bösendamm 13
33129 Delbrück
Phone: +49 (0) 5250 9762-900
Fax: +49 (0) 5250 9762-901

Bühlstraße 13
78112 St. Georgen
Phone: +49 (0) 7724 8809-0
Fax: +49 (0) 7724 8809-45

paragon of North America Corp.
11394 Linden Road, Suite A
Clio, MI 48420, USA
Phone: +1(0) 810 686 7690
Fax: +1(0) 810 686 7693

paragon AG
Sales Office France
177 av Georges Clemenceau
92000 Nanterre, Frankreich
Phone: +33 (0) 1419686-66
Fax: +33 (0) 1419686-67

paragon AG
Sales Office Italy
Strada del Colle 18
10020 Pecetto Torinese, Italy
Phone: +39-011-811 50 87
Fax: +39-011-861 08 44

paragon of Japan Inc.
Sales Office Japan
Meishin-Cho 2-2-23 (1F)
Amagasaki-City, Hyogo-Ken
661-0021, Japan
Phone: + 81(0) 6-6429-1690
Fax: + 81(0) 6-6429-7020

paragon firstronic GmbH
Headquarters
Sommerbergstraße 18
98527 Suhl
Phone: +49 (0) 3681 8929-500
Fax: +49 (0) 3681 8929-560
E-mail: info@paragon-firstronic.de
Internet: www.paragon-firstronic.de

paragon firstronic GmbH
Sales Office Europe
Hauptstraße 53
89522 Heidenheim
Phone: +49 (0) 7321 2782-18
Fax: +49 (0) 7321 2782-20

paragon firstronic of NA Corp.
1655 Michigan Street NE
Grand Rapids, MI 49503, USA
Phone: +1(0) 616 456 92-20
Fax: +1(0) 616 456 92-30

paragon AG
Headquarters
Schwalbenweg 29
33129 Delbrück
Phone: +49 (0) 5250 9762-0
Fax: +49 (0) 5250 9762-60
E-mail: info@paragon-online.de
Internet: www.paragon-online.de

Corporate Communications
Phone: +49 (0) 5250 9762-160
Fax: +49 (0) 5250 9762-60
E-mail: presse@paragon-online.de

Investor Relations
Haubrok Investor Relations GmbH
Phone: +49 (0) 5250 9762-140
E-mail: investor@paragon-online.de

Contact

Locations



paragon AG
Schwalbenweg 29
33129 Delbrück · Germany
Phone: + 49 (0) 52 50-97 62-0
Fax: + 49 (0) 52 50-97 62-60
E-mail: investor@paragon-online.de
Internet: www.paragon-online.de


